THE ROLE OF HSV-1 PROTEIN ICP22 IN TRANSCRIPTION

by

Hannah L Fox

B.A., St. John's College, 2013

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the School of Medicine in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2018

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

This dissertation was be presented

by

Hannah L. Fox

on

November 2, 2018

and approved by

Carolyn Coyne, Associate Professor, Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics Paul R. Kinchington, Professor, Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics Saleem Khan, Professor, Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics Li Lan, Associate Professor, Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics Dissertation Director: Neal DeLuca, Professor, Department of Microbiology and Molecular

Genetics

ii

Copyright © by Hannah L Fox

2018

THE ROLE OF HSV-1 PROTEIN ICP22 IN TRANSCRIPTION

Hannah L. Fox, PhD

University of Pittsburgh, 2018

Simplex Virus type 1 (HSV-1) productively replicates in epithelial cells Herpes before establishing a life-long infection in sensory neurons. During productive infection, HSV-1 alters cellular processes and hijacks many cellular proteins to aid in viral replication. Viral gene transcription requires cellular RNA polymerase II (RNA pol II) and is highly regulated. The viral Immediate Early (IE) proteins ICP4, ICP0, ICP27, and ICP22 have all been recognized to play roles in regulating viral transcription. To clarify the role of ICP22 in transcription regulation, we defined its interactions with cellular transcription factors and its effects on both viral and cellular gene transcription. We determined that: i) the FACT complex, a cellular transcription elongation factor, did not associate with viral DNA in the absence of ICP22; ii) in the absence of ICP22, viral transcription decreases and RNA pol II does not efficiently proceed from viral promoters to gene bodies; iii) ICP22 directly interacts with the FACT complex and other cellular factors involved in transcription; and iv) ICP22 is required for the efficient repression of cellular gene transcription.

Our studies suggest a role for ICP22 in regulating transcription in cells infected with HSV-1. We propose that ICP22 recruits cellular factors necessary for efficient transcript elongation to viral genomes. Furthermore, the ability of ICP22 to recruit these factors supports a mechanism through which HSV-1 limits cellular transcription while encouraging robust viral transcription. ICP22 is therefore integral to the efficient production of infectious virus and the sustained evasion of host immune responses.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0	INT	NTRODUCTION		
	1.1	PATI	HOLOGY AND HUMAN HEALTH1	
		1.1.1	Herpesviridae1	
		1.1.2	Pathology2	
		1.1.3	HSV Vectors	
	1.2	GEN	ERAL BIOLOGY AND HSV-1 LIFECYCLE 4	
		1.2.1	Virion Structure	
		1.2.2	Genome Structure	
		1.2.3	Productive Infection: Overview	
		1.2.4	Productive Infection: Entry into Cells7	
		1.2.5	Productive Infection: Detection by the Cell7	
		1.2.6	Productive Infection: Transcription10	
		1.2.7	Productive Infection: DNA Replication and Recombination	
		1.2.8	Productive Infection: Packaging and Egress13	
		1.2.9	Latency14	
	1.3	CELI	LULAR RESPONSES TO HSV-1 INFECTION	
		1.3.1	Innate Immunity 16	
		1.3.2	Adaptive Immunity 17	

		1.3.3 Viral Evasion of Immune Responses	17
	1.4	HSV-1 AND TRANSCRIPTION	20
		1.4.1 Viral Proteins Involved in Transcription	20
		1.4.2 Cellular Transcription Factors Associated with Viral DNA	23
	1.5	RATIONALE	26
2.0	A	HERPESVIRAL IMMEDIATE EARLY PROTEIN PROMOTI	ES
TR	ANSC	CRIPTION ELONGATION OF VIRAL TRANSCRIPTS	27
	2.1	PROJECT SUMMARY	27
	2.2	IMPORTANCE	28
	2.3	INTRODUCTION	29
	2.4	RESULTS	31
	2.5	SUPPLEMENTAL FIGURES	46
	2.6	DISCUSSION	48
	2.7	MATERIAL AND METHODS	51
3.0	TH	E ROLE OF ICP22 IN THE INHIBITION OF CELLULAR TRANSCRITPIC)N
DU	RING	G HSV-1 INFECTION	58
	3.1	PROJECT SUMMARY	58
	3.2	IMPORTANCE	59
	3.3	INTRODUCTION	59
	3.4	RESULTS	62
	3.5	DISCUSSION	78
	3.6	MATERIALS AND METHODS	82
4.0	SUI	MMARY AND DISCUSSION	86

4.1	SUMMARY OF THESIS	86
4.2	GENERAL DISCUSSION	88
BIBLIO	GRAPHY	92

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Proteins Associated with Viral Genomes.	. 37
Table 2. Proteins interacting with ICP22 at 6 hpi	. 78

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. The HSV-1 Virion
Figure 2. HSV-1 Genome Structure
Figure 3. HSV-1 Productive Lifecycle
Figure 4. The roles of ICP4, ICP27, and ICP22 in HSV-1 transcription
Figure 5. Abundance of FACT complex proteins and localization of SSRP1 in infected cells 34
Figure 6. Abundance of FACT complex proteins and localization of SSRP1 in infected cells 35
Figure 7. Interaction of ICP22 and the FACT complex in infected cells
Figure 8. Replication and gene expression of an ICP22 mutant
Figure 9. ChIP analysis of ICP4 and RNA Pol II on ICP22 mutant versus wt (KOS) genomes. 43
Figure 10. Changes to gene expression in cells infected with HSV-1 with or without ICP22 over
the course of productive infection
Figure 11. Differences in pathway regulation due to HSV-1 infection at 2 hours post infection.66
Figure 12. Differences in pathway regulation due to HSV-1 infection at 6 hours post infection.69
Figure 13. RNA polymerase II occupancy on cellular and viral genes during HSV-1 infection. 72
Figure 14. Kinase inhibitor DRB alters phosphorylation of RNA pol II
Figure S1. Total ChIPseq Reads46
Figure S2. Calculation of Start Site and Gene Body Reads for Selected Genes

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Asf1: Anti-silencing function 1 histone chaperone bp: Base Pair Cdk (7/9): Cyclin dependent kinase (7/9) ChIP-seq: Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Sequencing CK2: Caesin Kinase 2 coREST: REST Co-repressor protein CTD: C-terminal Domain DNA-PK: DNA damage response kinase dsDNA: Double-stranded DNA DSIF: DRB-sensitivity-inducing factor E: Early EBV: Epstein-Barr virus EdC: 5-Ethynyl-2'-deoxycytidine EIF: eukaryotic initiation factor FACT Complex: Facilitates Chromatin Transcription Complex g(B-L): Glycoprotein (B-L) GFP: Green Fluorescent Protein HAT: Histone acetyl transferase HCF-1: Host Cell Factor-1 HCMV: Human Cytomegalovirus HDAC: Histone deacetlyase HHV-6A: Human Herpesvirus 6A HHV-6B: Human Herpesvirus 6B HHV-7: Human Herpesvirus 7

HSV-1: Herpes Simplex Virus 1 HSV-1: Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 HSV-2: Herpes Simplex Virus 2 HVEM: Herpes Virus Entry Mediator ICP: Infected cell polypeptide IE: Immediate Early IFI: Interferon-inducible **IFN:** Interferon IL: Interleukin **INR:** Initiator element iPOND: isolation of proteins on nascent DNA IRF: Interferon Regulatory Factor ISG: Interferon-stimulated Gene JMJD3: Lysine-specific demethylase 6B KSHV: Kaposi's Sarcoma-associated Herpesvirus L: Late LAT: Latency Associated Transcript LSD1: Lysine-specific histone demethylase 1A MHC: Major histocompatibility complex miRNA: Micro RNA MOI: multiplicity of infection mRNA: messenger RNA ND10: Nuclear Domain 10 NELF: Negative Elongation Factor NF1: Nuclear Factor 1 NFkB: nuclear factor kappa-light chain-enhancer of activated B cells NURD: Nucleosome Remodeling and Deacetylase Oct1: Octamer binding protein 1 oriL: Origin L oriS: Origin S

PML: Pro Myelocytic Leukemia

PRR: Pattern Recognition Receptor

RNA-seq: RNA sequencing

RPA: replication factor-A protein

Ser-2P: Serine-2 Phosphorylated

Ser-5P: Serine-5 Phosphorylated

Set1/MLL: Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase

Sin3A: Paired amphipathic helix protein

Sp1: Specificity Protein 1

Spt: Suppressor of Ty

ssDNA: Single-stranded DNA

SSRP1: Structure Specific Recognition Protein 1

STING: Stimulator of interferon Genes

SWI/SNF: Switch/Sucrose Non Fermentable

TAF: TBP Associated Factor

TBK: TANK-binding kinase

TBP: TATA-binding protein

TF: Transcription Factor

tk: thymidine kinases

TLR: Toll-like Receptor

UL: Unique long region

U_S: Unique short region

UTX: Lysine-specific demethylase 6A

VHS: virion host shutoff protein

VP: Viral Protein

VZV: Varicella-zoster Virus

WT: Wild Type

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Herpes Simplex Virus (HSV) is a ubiquitous human pathogen that can produce mild to severe pathologies. HSV is also employed as a therapeutic vector. A deeper understanding of the basic effects of HSV proteins and processes on the cell is essential for developing safe translational applications. Here we elucidate the role of viral protein ICP22 in viral and cellular transcription during productive viral infection. The interactions of ICP22 with cellular proteins throughout infection also illuminate the dynamics of protein interactions in infected cells.

1.1 PATHOLOGY AND HUMAN HEALTH

1.1.1 Herpesviridae

The family of Herpesviridae consists of a multitude of viruses that infect a wide range of animals. Herpesviruses are categorized as such based on their morphology: a double-stranded DNA genome encased in an icosahedral capsid. Nine herpes viruses infect humans: Herpes Simplex Virus 1 (HSV-1), Herpes Simplex Virus 2 (HSV-2), Varicella-zoster Virus (VZV), Human Cytomegalovirus (HCMV), Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), Human Herpesvirus 6A (HHV-6A), Human Herpesvirus 6B (HHV-6B), Human Herpesvirus 7 (HHV-7), and Kaposi's Sarcoma-associated Herpesvirus (KSHV) (1). Although not considered a human pathogen,

zoonotic infection of Cercopithecine Herpesvirus 1 (B virus), a common virus in Asian macaques, has occurred and usually results in fatal encephalomyelitis (2). Herpesviridae can be divided into three subsets: Alphaherpesviruses, Betaherpesviruses, and Gammaherpesviruses. HSV-1, HSV-2, and VZV are considered to be Alphaherpesviruses, sharing common characteristics such as a variable host range, short reproductive cycle during productive infection, and the establishment of latency in sensory ganglia. HSV-1 and HSV-2 both initially infect cells at mucosal surfaces or sites of broken skin (1). About 17% of the genomes of HSV-1 and HSV-2 are different and infections can be serologically differentiated (3). HSV-1 is often identified as the cause of oropharyngeal infection, while HSV-2 is most often identified in genital infections. A primary infection of either HSV-1 or HSV-2 at one site does not preclude primary infection by the other at a different site (1). This project will focus on HSV-1.

1.1.2 Pathology

HSV establishes a lifelong infection in its host. According to recent surveys conducted in the United States, 47.8% of people aged 14-49 are infected with HSV-1 and 11.9% with HSV-2. The prevalence of both increased with age and was higher among women (4). HSV-1 infection gives rise to a range of clinical symptoms. Although many patients experience only recurrent cold sores, HSV-1 infection can cause morbidity and mortality(5). Herpes Stromal Keratitis, which causes blindness, affects 300,000 new patients yearly in the United States(6). Neonatal herpes and HSV encephalitis can both have fatal outcomes (5). The prevalence of HSV-1 in pregnant women is 59.3% HSV-1 and 21.1% are seropositive for HSV-2, and the risk of neonatal herpes increases if primary infection occurs near delivery (7). Antiviral therapies have been developed that target the viral DNA polymerase or viral thymidine kinase (tk). Acyclovir, a nucleoside

analogue, is an effective antiviral that is used to treat both mild and severe HSV-1 infections (8). Unfortunately, HSV-1 can develop resistance to acyclovir treatment, especially in immunocompromised patients. HSV-1 infections in immunocompromised patients are caused by acyclovir resistant strains in 3.5%-10% of cases depending on the nature of the infection. While second-line drugs are available, they are only available by intravenous administration and have severe side effects (9).

1.1.3 HSV Vectors

Although HSV is generally recognized as pathogenic in humans, modified HSV has been widely explored as an important tool of gene therapy. There are multiple benefits of using HSV, including: the ability to infect neurons; rapid replication in cell culture; ease of genetic modification; lack of integration into host genomes; and the size of genes that can be delivered. Various types of vectors are used for different applications. Attenuated mutants allow for replication in specific cells, such as rapidly replicating cancer cells. Genes deleted in these cases include thymidine kinase (tk) and γ 34.5. Replication defective vectors can fail to replicate due to the deletion of genes such as those which code for ICP4, but still remain cytotoxic due to the expression of the remaining viral genes. Further deletion of Immediate Early Viral Proteins can eliminate cytotoxicity. Amplicon vectors package an amplicon, or plasmid, within a virion by providing the HSV origin of replication and other HSV DNA packaging signals (10).

The most attractive application of HSV vectors is in the treatment of brain tumors such as glioblastoma (11). There have been many clinical studies using oncolytic HSV vectors to treat Malignant Glioma. HSV vectors used in these studies most often have a deletion of γ 34.5 and exibit no toxicity in human subjects (12). Recently work has been done to retarget HSV vectors,

restricting the vector's ability to infect cells in order to target a specific type (13). Retargeting will allow HSV vectors to be useful in treating even more conditions.

1.2 GENERAL BIOLOGY AND HSV-1 LIFECYCLE

1.2.1 Virion Structure

The HSV-1 virion, illustrated in Figure 1, is composed of a core containing viral dsDNA. HSV-1 is a large virus with a dsDNA genome encapsulated by an inner core, an icosahedral capsid, a proteinaceous tegument, and a lipid envelope complete with glycoprotein spikes (14).



Figure 1. The HSV-1 Virion. 1. Core containing viral DNA bound by spermidine and spermine. 2. Icosahedral capsid. 3. Tegument containing tegument proteins. 4. Viral envelope studded with glycoproteins.

In addition to viral DNA the core contains spermidine and spermine tightly bound to the DNA, which neutralize the DNA phosphate (15). The viral capsid is composed of an outer layer with a T=16 icosahedral symmetry and is composed of the viral structural proteins VP5, VP26,

VP23, and VP19C (16, 17). The tegument of the virus, between the capsid and the envelope, contains at least 18 viral proteins that are released into infected cells upon entry. The envelope also contains a multitude of viral proteins embedded in the membrane (14). Cryo-Electron Tomography studies have revealed specifics about the tegument and envelope and an estimation of the size of HSV-1 virions. Diameters measured ranged from 170 to 200 nm with a bilayer membrane envelope about 5 nm thick. Including the glycoprotein spikes, of which there 600 to 750 per virion, the total diameter is about 225 nm (18).

1.2.2 Genome Structure

The HSV genome encodes around 80 genes and is approximately 152 kb (19). The genome is GC rich and is composed of a unique long region (U_L), a unique short region (U_S), long repeat regions, and short repeat region (20–23) (Figure 2). The repeat regions flank their respective unique regions and facilitate recombination during viral DNA replication. The regions invert, resulting in four possible orientations of the genome. All four isomers are generated during normal replication (24). The genome contains three origins of replication, one copy of oriL, within the U_L region, and two copies of oriS, within each one of the short repeat regions (25, 26). Mutation of the oriL or oriS does not prevent replication, indicating that possessing all three origins is not required for replication in culture nor for pathogenesis in a mouse model (27, 28).



Figure 2. HSV-1 Genome Structure. A schematic including the locations of origins of replication.

1.2.3 Productive Infection: Overview

HSV-1 enters the body through the mucosa and primary productive infection ensues in epithelial cells. After entry, the virus undergoes transcription, replication, and packaging within the nucleus (14). Productive infection is rapid, with some virus beginning to undergo packaging and export by 6 hours post infection (29). An outline of these steps is shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3. HSV-1 Productive Lifecycle. Timeline indicates approximate initiation of each event. 1. Entry into cell through fusion with cell envelope or endosome. 2. Translocation of capsid and tegument proteins to nucleus. 3. Transcription of IE genes. 4. Translation of IE proteins. 5. Transcription of E genes. 6. Translation of E proteins. 7. Viral DNA replication and transcription of L genes. 8. Translation of L proteins. 9. Packaging of DNA into capsids. 10. Egress from nucleus. 11. Acquisition of envelope and egress from cell.

1.2.4 Productive Infection: Entry into Cells

HSV-1 enters epithelial cells through a complex interaction between multiple viral glycoproteins and cellular receptors. Depending on cell type, the virion will enter the cell through membrane fusion between its envelope and the cell surface or through endocytosis. In either case, the viral glycoproteins required—gB, gD, and gH-gL—are the same (30, 31).

HSV-1 will first interact with the cell surface through glycoprotein gC or gB binding to cellular heparin sulfate. Next, gD, which is essential for entry, will bind independently to a cellular receptor. Three independent cellular receptors have been identified: Nectin-1, HVEM, and 3-O-HS (modified heparin sulfate). After gD binds to a receptor, gB and gH-gL can initiate fusion (32). The capsid, along with associated tegument proteins, can then traffic to nuclear pores and release viral DNA into the nucleus (33). The tegument proteins can have an immediate effect on the cell and many are required to continue the viral lifecycle.

1.2.5 Productive Infection: Detection by the Cell

As HSV-1 enters host cells, it usurps and perturbs normal cellular processes. The cell responds to these disturbances in multiple ways. Here we will discuss the three ways the cell interacts with the incoming virus: the DNA damage response, intrinsic immunity, and histone deposition.

The HSV-1 genome that enters the cell nucleus has nicks and gaps (34, 35). The genome is recognized in the host by the DNA damage response, with proteins such as PARP1, PARP14, RPA1, and LIG3 associating with viral DNA as soon as one hour post infection (29). Virion DNA transfected into cells stimulates DNA damage response kinases (DNA-PKcs), and more stimulation reduces the infectivity of HSV-1. While the DNA damage response could inhibit HSV-1 infection, the viral Immediate Early (IE) protein ICP0 can degrade DNA-PKs, allowing the virus to evade this cellular defense (36).

The intrinsic immune response to HSV-1 involves the association with ND10 domains and the deposition of PML onto viral DNA upon entry into the nucleus (37, 38). Within PML nuclear bodies, repressive proteins, including Sp100, associate with viral genomes (29). Viral Immediate Early (IE) protein ICP0 disrupts ND10 domains by degrading PML and other repressive proteins, negating their repressive action on the viral genome (39–41).

Histones regulate access to DNA and play a role in transcription and replication of the DNA. Histones strongly associated with to DNA can prevent access by transcriptional or replicative machinery. Upon entry into the nucleus, HSV-1 DNA associates with histones as early as one hour post infection (29, 42, 43). On cellular DNA, histones form chromatin. Chromatin is a macromolecular complex made up of nucleosomes, which are normally regularly spaced on cellular DNA. Each nucleosome is comprised of 145-147 bp of DNA wrapped around histone octamers comprised of two each of the histone proteins H2A, H2B, H3, and H4 (44). Histones on viral DNA do not form chromatin identical to that on cellular DNA, but rather form disordered nucleosomes and have modifications related to active transcription (45–47). Viral and cellular proteins have been shown to modify histones on, or remove histones from, viral DNA, promoting viral gene expression and replication during productive infection. Chromatin modification can result in histones that are more or less associated with DNA resulting in the transcription of associated genes being either activated or repressed.

The tegument proteins VP16 and VP22 interact with chromatin modifiers upon entry. HCF-1, with which VP16 forms a complex, recruits many chromatin modification complexes including Asf1, LSD1, Set1/MLL (48, 49). Asf1 may deposit H3.3 on viral genomes, LSD1 can remove the repressive methylation from H3K9, and Set1/MLL can methylate H3K4 (a mark of activation), all of which lead to a more open chromatin structure on the genome. Transfected VP16 acidic activation domain (VP16 AD) has been shown to recruit histone acetyl transferase (HAT), which promotes activating acetylation of histones, and SWI/SNF, an ATP-dependent nucleosome remodeler which removes histones from DNA, to condensed chromatin in cell culture (50). Furthermore, the VP16 AD has been found to promote the association of HATs p300 and CBP, as well as ATP-dependent remodeling proteins BRG1 and hBRM, with viral IE gene promoters during lytic infection. Additionally, fewer H3 histones associate with viral IE gene promoters in the presence of the VP16 AD (51). VP22, another viral tegument protein, binds to template-activating factor I, a chromatin remodeling protein, *in vitro*, suggesting a possible role for VP22 in preventing template-activating factor I from depositing histones onto viral DNA (52).

It has been observed that in the presence of IE gene products, fewer histones associate with E and L gene promoters (42). This is consistent with a model of latency in which a mutant lacking all the IE genes (d109) can establish a quiescent infection in stationary cells in which viral DNA is silenced by heterochromatin (53, 54). ICP0, an IE protein, has an important role in modifying chromatin on viral genomes. Expression of ICP0 during infection has been found to increase levels of acetylated H3 on viral genomes at 6 hours post-infection (hpi) (43). ICP0 also has a role in removing histone H3 from IE and E genes between 3 and 8 hpi, potentially by recruiting histone remodeling complexes and/or promoting histone acetylation (43). One way ICP0 may promote activating histone marks is by dissociating histone deacetylases from the CoREST-REST complex, allowing LSD1 to demethylate the repressive methylation of H3K9 rather than removing the activating methylation of H3K4, and by inhibiting class II histone

deacetylases, maintaining activating acetylation of histones (55, 56). ICP4, another IE protein and a transcription activator, while not directly implicated in chromatin modification, has been found to interact with the chromosomal protein high mobility group protein 1 and the ATPase chromatin remodeling complexes INO80, NURD, and SWI/SNF (57, 58).

1.2.6 Productive Infection: Transcription

In the nucleus, HSV-1 genes are transcribed by RNA polymerase II (RNA pol II) in a regulated cascade (59). Gene classification is determined based on when the genes are expressed, and they naturally cluster by function. Immediate early (IE) genes are expressed in the absence of de novo viral protein synthesis. IE gene products mainly regulate transcription (60). Next expressed are early (E) genes, whose products are involved in viral DNA replication. The initial rounds of viral DNA replication allow for the expression of late (L) genes, and this expression peaks after the accumulation of viral genomes. L genes encode mainly structural proteins and tegument proteins. L genes that may be expressed at low levels prior to viral DNA replication are considered to be true late genes (γ 2) (61).

IE genes are transcribed shortly after infection and expressed by one hour post infection, with peak transcription between 2 and 4 hpi (60, 62). Out of the five immediate early proteins, ICP4, ICP22, ICP27, and ICP0 associate with viral genomes by 2 hours post infection (29). The viral tegument protein VP16 forms a complex with the cellular protein Oct1 and the cellular coactivator Host Cell Factor-1 (HCF-1) in order to activate transcription of IE genes. The VP16 complex binds IE gene promoters via a TAATGARAT sequence (63). The gene promoters also have binding sites for the cellular transcription factors Sp1, NF1, and TFIID (64, 10

65). VP16 is required for the recruitment of RNA pol II, chromatin remodelers, and transcription factors to IE gene promoters (section 1.2.5) (66–72). The IE protein ICP4 plays a role in repressing the transcription of ICP4 and the other IE proteins at later times post infection (73, 74).

E genes are highly transcribed between 4 and 6 hours post infection, and their transcription requires the expression of the IE protein ICP4. The promoters of E genes do not have a VP16 binding site, but do contain a TATA box and binding sites for Sp1 and NF1 (75). Despite the Sp1 binding site, ICP4 may serve to provide the same function as Sp1 does. Mutation of the Sp1 binding site does not greatly affect E gene expression kinetics (76).

L genes are expressed after the onset of viral DNA replication, 3 hours post infection, and highly expressed around 6 hours post infection. The promoters of both leaky late and true late genes contain INR elements and TATA boxes (62). The IE proteins ICP27 and ICP22 aid in the transcription of L genes although the exact mechanism is not fully defined (77–79).

The transcription of E and L genes, which requires activation by ICP4, involves other IE genes and many cellular co-factors. ICP4 and these other factors are discussed in more detail in section 1.4.

HSV-1 proteins are translated by cellular translation machinery. HSV-1 increases the efficiency of viral protein translation by phosphorylating EIF4E and also promoting the assembly of EIF4F complexes by phosphorylating the EIF4E binding protein and leading to its degradation (80).

1.2.7 Productive Infection: DNA Replication and Recombination

HSV-1 encodes seven proteins required for viral DNA replication: UL9, ICP8, UL5, UL8, UL52, UL30, and UL42 (81). UL9, the origin binding protein, binds to the A-T rich origins of replication via specific binding sites. Two binding sites flank OriS while OriL is flanked by four, two on each side of the origin. These binding sites are palindromic, allowing for the formation of potential hairpins as the DNA is distorted in preparation for replication (82). There is also evidence that UL9 non-specifically binds ssDNA (83). While UL9 is required for origin dependent DNA replication early in infection, it is not required for continued DNA synthesis (84). Despite being dispensable for continued DNA synthesis, UL9 remains associated with viral DNA after the onset of DNA replication (29, 85). ICP8, the major viral single-strand binding protein binds nonspecifically to ssDNA. UL9 and ICP8 together distort the origins allowing for the start of replication and recruiting the helicase primase complex composed of UL5, UL8, and UL52 (86, 87). HSV-1 DNA synthesis is completed by the viral DNA polymerase, composed of UL30 and the processivity factor UL42 (88, 89).

Although the seven viral proteins described above are sufficient to promote origin dependent replication in vitro and in cell culture, in the context of productive infection many other viral and cellular proteins are involved in DNA replication and related processes such as recombination and nucleotide pool growth. Viral proteins involved in viral DNA replication but not required include thymidine kinase (TK), a ribonuclease reductase (ICP6, RR1, RR2), a uracil-DNA glycosylase (UNG), a deoxyuridine triphosphatase (dUTPase), and an alkaline nuclease (82). Cellular proteins involved in single strand break repair, double strand break repair, and mismatch repair associate with viral replication forks, indicating that DNA damage repair and/or recombination take place concurrent with viral DNA replication (85).

There are currently two proposed models for HSV-1 replication. The first, a rolling circle model, is based on the production of concatemeric DNA during replication (14). Recent evidence supports a model of replication linked to recombination (85, 90).

1.2.8 Productive Infection: Packaging and Egress

HSV-1 DNA is packaged into capsids in the nucleus. The capsid is composed of the structural proteins VP5, VP19C, VP23, and VP26 (91). The capsid also contains minor capsid proteins Ul6, UL15, UL17, UL25, UL28, and UL33. The capsid develops into three forms in infected cells: (A) empty, (B) containing scaffold protein VP22a, (C) containing viral DNA (92). B-capsids will become either A-capsids or C- capsids, and C-capsids will mature into infectious virus (93). The icosahedral capsid is mainly composed of capsomers, which have either five or six copies of VP5 (91). During assembly, the scaffold protein VP22a interacts with VP5 and supports capsid assembly. In addition to the major capsid proteins, a portal complex, composed of 12 copies of the portal protein UL6, is incorporated into the capsid (94, 95). After assembly, VP22a is digested by the viral protease VP24 (96).

DNA packaging of HSV-1 requires at least seven viral genes: Ul6, UL15, UL17, UL25, UL28, UL32, and UL33. The terminase complex, comprised of UL28, UL15, and UL33, docks on the capsid portal and binds to concatemeric viral DNA through the recognition of specific packaging sequences by UL28. Cleavage at these sites, *pac1* and *pac2*, ensure a single genome is packaged by the complex into each capsid. UL15 and UL17 are necessary to retain HSV-1 DNA into the capsid once it has been packaged (97).

Once DNA is packaged in capsids, the capsids bud from the nucleus, acquiring an envelope studded with viral glycoproteins from the inner nuclear membrane. These envelopes

then fuse with the outer nuclear membrane, releasing the capsid into the cytoplasm where it acquires tegument proteins. The capsids then bud into the Golgi, trans Golgi network, or endosome to acquire their permanent envelope, again studded with viral glycoproteins. Enveloped HSV-1 virions are transported in cytoplasmic vesicles to the cell surface, where the vesicles fuse with the plasma membrane and release the mature virion (98).

1.2.9 Latency

HSV-1 establishes a lifelong latent infection in sensory neurons from which it can periodically reactivate (99). After primary productive infection in epithelial cells HSV-1 can gain access to neuronal cells. Virions travels up axons to neuronal nuclei where the genome is maintained in a (mostly) quiescent episomal state (100, 101). The establishment and maintenance of latency in neuronal nuclei is attributed to various factors. First, although tegument proteins traffic to the nucleus of epithelial cells with the viral capsid, the distance between the cellular membrane and the nucleus is greater in neurons, and there is evidence that the tegument protein VP16 is often lost before the capsid reaches the nucleus (102). Additionally, HCF-1, which in epithelial cells forms a complex with VP16 to help initiate viral transcription, is located in the cytoplasm of neurons, separating it from incoming viral DNA (103). These two circumstances contribute to a lack of IE gene expression, preventing the initiation of the infectious cycle. Additionally, a host microRNA present in neurons—miR-138—repressed ICP0 expression (104). Two factors that contribute to the maintenance of latency are heterochromatin and the expression of latency associated transcripts (LATs). Latent genomes are associated with heterochromatin, characterized by the repressive histone modifications detected over most of the viral genome, repressing viral gene expression (105-107). One location of sustained transcription on latent viral genomes is the region encoding LATs (108, 109). LATs are transcribed first as a 8.5 kb polyadenylated transcript, then spliced to produce a stable 2.0 kb intron, and some cases spliced further to produce other LATs. Among other roles, LATs can repress gene expression of genes such as the one which encodes ICP0. Expression of ICP0 is known to promote reactivation (110, 111).

Reactivation from latency is clinically complex, occurring in human patients due to various stressors such as fever and UV exposure (112, 113). Histone modification has been shown to induce reactivation of latent viral genomes. For example, inhibiting LSD1, JMJD3, or UTX, all of which modify chromatin to be less repressive, results in lower levels of HSV-1 reactivation (114, 115). On the other hand, HDAC inhibitors induce reactivation. HDAC inhibitors can also lead to an increase in ICP0, which may be vital to reactivation (116–118).

Reactivation involves a delicate balance, as the virus must stimulate the production of infectious virus while evading host responses to viral activity. The process of reactivation is therefore complex and encompassess multiple stages. Reactivation can be modeled by the addition of chemical compounds. After the induction of reactivation by chemical means such as treatment with phosphatidylinositol 3 (PI3)-kinase inhibitor, reactivation can be observed to take place in two phases. Phase I is characterized by the simultaneous transcription of IE, E, and L genes and occurs 15-20 hours post treatment. This transcription occurs in the absence of de novo viral protein synthesis or viral DNA replication and does not require the presence of VP16. Phase II, beginning 25 to 30 hours post treatment, is similar to normal productive infection, with a cascade of transcription initiated by the transcription of IE genes by VP16, and involving viral DNA synthesis and the production of infectious virus (119).

1.3 CELLULAR RESPONSES TO HSV-1 INFECTION

1.3.1 Innate Immunity

Intrinsic Immunity, the immediate response of the cell to HSV-1 infection where factors constitutively expressed directly repress incoming genomes, is reviewed in section 1.2.5. Innate immunity, in which cellular sensors detect viral infection and respond to it by initiating a reaction, such as activating a pathway, is discussed here.

Pattern Recognition Receptors

Toll-like Receptors (TLRs) are pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that detect virus in cells and induce the expression of cytokines and chemokines. There are eleven identified mammalian TLRs, four of which recognize HSV-1. TLR-7 can activate NF- κ B, JNK, and p38 (120). Detection by TLR-2 can lead to the secretion of IL-6 and IL-12, possibly through the activation of NF- κ B. TLR-9 can detect CpG motifs in the viral genome and can upregulate cytokines and activate IFN- α (121, 122). TLR-3 can detect dsRNA and activate IFN- β , IL-6, NF- κ B, and IRF3 expression. Underscoring the importance of this PRR is evidence that mutations in TLR-3 make patients more susceptible to herpes simplex encephalitis (123, 124).

Other PRRs that detect viral infection include Protein Kinase R (PKR) and 2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetase (OAS). Both of these PRRs detect dsRNA. PKR can inhibit protein synthesis by phosphorylating eIF-2 α (125). OAS activates RNase L to degrade mRNA (126, 127).

IFI16 and cGas

HSV-1 DNA is sensed in the nucleus by IFI16, a DNA sensor that associates with viral DNA by 2 hours post infection (29, 122). IFI16 is required to induce IFN- β in HSV-1 infected cells and can detect incoming virus prior to viral transcription (128). Upon detecting viral DNA, IFI16 oligomerizes and activates STING, which activates TBK-1 phosphorylation. TBK1 can then phosphorylate IRF3, allowing IRF3 to dimerize, translocate to the nucleus, and promote IFN- β expression. cGAS can also bind to DNA, synthesize cGAMP and result in the expression of IFN- β . Although cGAS is normally found in the cytoplasm of cells, it is required for IFN- β expression during HSV-1 infection. Recent work has found a role for cGAS in stabilizing IF116, potentially explaining how a cytosolic sensor can aid in the detection of nuclear DNA (129).

1.3.2 Adaptive Immunity

Antibodies against HSV-1 typically recognize antigens such as envelope glycoproteins, tegument proteins, or capsid proteins. Antibodies can typically be detected in the serum of infected patients (130). Antibodies to HSV-1 may play a protective role against infection, and antibodies to HSV-2 may hinder the transfer of HSV-2 to neonates (131). The T-cell response to HSV consists of T-cells primed by dendritic cells that recognize HSV infection via TLR2 and TLR9 (121).

1.3.3 Viral Evasion of Immune Responses

VHS and ICP27

Host protein synthesis is rapidly inhibited after the onset of infection—within one hour post infection (132). The tegument protein virion host shutoff protein (vhs) is an endoribonuclease

that degrades both cellular and viral mRNA to mediate a decrease in host cell transcription (133). VHS has been shown to play a significant role in the inhibition of the IFN I response to viral infection. Cells infected with vhs-null mutants produce more type I IFNs than cells infected with wild type HSV-1 (134–136). Recently, evidence has shown that vhs may also have a role in suppressing stress granule formation, reducing the presence of dsRNA in the cytoplasm of infected cells (137, 138). In addition to vhs, the IE protein ICP27 reduces the amount of translation of cellular genes by inhibiting mRNA splicing (139).

ICP0

The HSV-1 IE protein ICP0 is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that targets many cellular proteins for proteasomal degradation. ICP0 can counteract many cellular intrinsic antiviral defenses, including the repression of viral genomes by PML nuclear bodies and DNA-PKcs, as described in section 1.2.5. In addition to dispersing ND10 bodies, ICP0 also targets other restrictive cellular proteins that associate with viral genomes, including the cellular E3 ligases RNF8 and RNF168, for degradation (140). RNF8 and RNF 168 are involved in antiviral DNA damage response along with other cellular proteins targeted by ICP0 (140). Furthermore, there is evidence that the actions of ICP0 result in an inhibition of IRF3-mediated ISG induction in response to HSV-1 infection (141), possibly due to its role in the degradation of IFI16 (128, 142).

Inhibition of Specific Pathways

While vhs, ICP27 and ICP0 have far-reaching effects on general interferon responses and intrinsic immunity, some viral proteins have been implicated in the evasion of specific immune

response pathways. The tegument protein UL37 deamidates cGas, preventing it from catalyzing cGAMP synthesis and activating an innate immune response (143). Viral protein ICP34.5 inhibits STING signaling and PKR, preventing the activation of TBK1 (144). The viral protein US11 blocks OAS activation, preventing the cell from detecting dsRNA (145). Viral protein US3 can hyperphosphorylate IRF3, inhibiting its dimerization and translocation to the nucleus, thereby preventing IFN beta production (146).

Adaptive Immune Evasion

HSV-1 evades the T-cell response by preventing antigen presentation and modulation of apoptosis. The IE protein ICP47 inhibits peptide loading into MHC class I while the viral glycoprotein gB diverts MHC class II molecules to the exosome pathway (147–149). HSV-1 modulates apoptosis by inhibiting T-cell mediated apoptosis in infected non-immune cells and inciting apoptosis in infected T-cells (150, 151). Furthermore, HSV-1 glycoprotein heterodimer gE/gI can directly antagonize immune detection by binding antibodies in order to block complement activation and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (152). Viral glycoprotein gC can also block complement activation by binding complement component C3b (153).

1.4 HSV-1 AND TRANSCRIPTION

1.4.1 Viral Proteins Involved in Transcription

ICP4

The IE protein ICP4 is the main viral transcription regulator of HSV-1. As discussed in section 1.2.6, ICP4 is required for the expression of HSV-1 E and L genes (154). ICP4 forms a dimer that binds to DNA, and upon binding can multimerize, increasing affinity to the DNA (155, 156). ICP4 can also bind to a plethora of cellular proteins. ICP4 binds to transcription factors including TFIID, TAF1 subunit, TBP, and components of mediator, recruiting them to viral genomes (29, 58, 154, 157, 158). Through the recruitment of these transcription factors, ICP4 stabilizes the transcription initiation machinery on viral promoters (159, 160). The binding of ICP4 to viral gene promoters precedes the recruitment of TBP and RNA pol II to E and L gene promoters (161). Conversely, ICP4 also has a role in repressing IE gene transcription. It is hypothesized that ICP4 represses genes with an specially positioned ICP4 binding site (IE genes) by binding and interacting with TFIID and TFIIB in a way that prevents transcriptional activation (162). ICP4 is also required for the recruitment of factors such as cdk9 and ERCC3 (a component of TFIIH) (29).

ICP27

The IE protein ICP27 has many functions that affect viral and cellular gene expression. ICP27 inhibits splicing of cellular mRNAs by interacting with splicing factors such as Spliceosome-Associated Protein 145 (SAP145) and the kinase SRPK1 (163, 164). Through these interactions, ICP27 can alter the phosphorylation of a family of non-snRNP splicing proteins (SRs) (164,

165). Under normal conditions these proteins are involved in spliceosome assembly, and during HSV-1 infection alteration by ICP27 results in the incomplete assembly of the spliceosome and the inhibition of splicing (166).

ICP27 has been shown to promote the transcription of E and L genes through multiple actions, and mutants exibit reduced viral DNA synthesis (167). ICP27 may increase 3' processing at the poly(A) sites of late genes (168). ICP27 has also been found to interact with ICP8 and RNA pol II (169, 170). ICP27 is also required for the nuclear export of viral mRNAs to the cytoplasm. ICP27 interacts with viral mRNA and TAP/NXF1, a major cellular mRNA nuclear export receptor (171, 172).

ICP22

The IE protein ICP22 has been implicated in the promotion of L gene transcription (78, 173– 175). ICP22 is a 68-kDa peptide that contains two nuclear localization signals and localizes to the nucleus in both infected and transfected cells (176). ICP22 can be post translationally modified, with evidence of phosphorylation by the viral protein UL13 and nucleotidylation by the cellular protein Caesin Kinase 2 (CK2) (177–179). In addition, ICP22 is predicted to have intrinsically disordered domains. Extensive modification and intrinsically disordered domains support ICP22 having a complex role in infection and interaction with many proteins (180). ICP22 associates with HSV-1 DNA during productive infection (181).

Interestingly, the gene that encodes ICP22, *US1*, contains a second gene, *US1.5*. The protein produced by this gene would be a truncated form of ICP22, beginning around what would be the 90th residue of the full-length ICP22 protein. Although this truncated form of ICP22 may play a role in some of the functions attributed to full-length ICP22, not much work

has been done to clarify this point (182). The truncated protein will not be specifically discussed in this study.

ICP22 mutants produce infectious virus in Vero, HeLa, and HEp-2 cell lines. Conversely, ICP22 mutant virus is attenuated *in vivo* and in fibroblast cells such as MRC5 cells (78, 173, 183, 184). The reason for the cell-type dependent permissivity of these mutants has not been determined. Studies have shown that during infection of restrictive cells with an ICP22 mutant the expression of certain late genes is reduced (78, 79, 173, 175, 185). The mechanism by which ICP22 promotes the accumulation of late gene transcripts has yet to be determined. ICP22 mutant virions are also abnormally assembled, likely due to the fact that late genes produce structural and virion proteins (186). There is also evidence that ICP22 is important for the establishment of latency and reactivation from latency (184, 186).



Figure 4. The roles of ICP4, ICP27, and ICP22 in HSV-1 transcription. ICP4 represses the transcription of IE genes and promotes the transcription of E and L genes. ICP22 plays a role in the transcription of L genes, promoting their transcription in some way. ICP27 is required for the export of viral mRNA.

1.4.2 Cellular Transcription Factors Associated with Viral DNA

In addition to cellular factors described in the previous sections with roles in viral productive infection that have been investigated, a number of other cellular transcription factors have been found to associate with viral DNA throughout infection. The cellular transcription factors related to the investigations in chapters 2 and 3 are reviewed here.

RNA pol II

RNA pol II is required for the transcription of viral genes. It is recruited to viral promoters by viral transcription regulators and associated with viral genomes throughout infection (29, 66, 85, 161, 181). Studies have also shown that RNA pol II is almost completely depleted from cellular genes during HSV-1 infection (187, 188), raising the question of how RNA pol II is recruited to, and maintained on, viral genes at the expense of cellular genes.

The C-terminal domain (CTD) of the large subunit of RNA pol II is composed of tandem repeats of a conserved consensus sequence that is modified throughout the regulated transcription of cellular genes (189). Differences in phosphorylation allow different proteins and complexes to dock on the CTD and promote different stages of transcription. The conserved CTD sequence contains five residues that can be phosphorylated, and all seven can be modified in other ways (190). This section will focus on the role of the phosphorylation of serine-5 (ser-5P) and serine-2 (ser-2P), as these are the most studied and relevant for the studies presented.

Unphosphorylated RNA pol II is recruited to gene promoters after which ser-5 is phosphorylated by TFIIH subunit cdk7 in a mediator-dependent manner (191). Ser-5P is required for the recruitment of the 5' capping enzymes (192). After transcription initiation, RNA pol II pauses at promoter-proximal regions. At this point RNA pol II is associated with negative elongation factor (NELF) and DRB-sensitivity-inducing factor (DSIF). P-TEFb is then recruited to the paused ser-5P RNA pol II and the cdk9 subunit phosphorylates ser-2 and DSIF. The addition of ser-2P allows for the release of paused RNA pol II and also provides a docking site for chromatin modifiers, splicing factors, capping enzymes, and poly-adenylation machinery (193, 194). Ser-2P of RNA pol II is therefore associated with efficient elongation and termination of transcripts.

The phosphorylation of RNA pol II is altered during infection with HSV-1. Whereas the hyperphosphorylated ser-5P/ser-2P form is abundant in uninfected cell lysates, starting around 3 hours post infection this form disappears and is replaced by an abundance of ser-5P RNA pol II (195). ICP22 is required for the emergence of the ser-5P RNA pol II, but not for the disappearance of the ser-5P/ser-2P form (185). There is evidence that UL13 may enhance the reduction in ser-5P, possibly through its role in modifying ICP22 (174). The mechanism behind how the ser-5P/ser-2P form disappears upon infection and how transcription proceeds in the absence of ser-2P RNA pol II is unknown.

CDK9

Cdk9 is the component of P-TEFb responsible for the phosphorylation of ser-2 of RNA pol II. The role of cdk9 in HSV-1 infection, when ser-2P is absent, is unresolved. There are studies that propose that cdk9 is required for HSV-1 infection based on inhibitor assays (196, 197). Conversely, there are studies that propose that ICP22 binds to cdk9 to inhibit its activity (198, 199). Cdk9 is associated with HSV-1 DNA throughout infection and is not recruited to viral DNA in the absence of the viral IE protein ICP4 (29). The role of cdk9 in HSV-1 is still undefined.
FACT Complex

The FACT (facilitates chromatin transcription) complex is a histone chaperone that facilitates transcription elongation through nucleosomes (200). The FACT complex is a heterodimer of the proteins Spt16 and SSRP1(201). Although the FACT complex was originally found to promote transcription elongation by RNA pol II, the FACT complex can also facilitate transcription elongation by RNA polymerases I and III (202, 203). The FACT complex facilitates transcription elongation by destabilizing the interaction between H2A-H2B dimers and H3-H4 tetramers by removing a H2A-H2B dimer from the nucleosome ahead of RNA pol II (204, 205). The FACT complex also likely plays a role in reassembling nucleosomes on DNA after transcription (204, 206, 207). Spt16 has been implicated in the redeposition of the original H3-H4 dimers evicted during transcription elongation, maintaining histone modification patterns on actively transcribed genes (208). Additionally, the FACT complex may act as a specific exchange factor of histone H2A.X (209).

The FACT complex also has roles in regulating chromatin to allow for replication, DNA recombination, and DNA repair. The FACT complex has been found to bind to DNA polymerase α and DNA replication elongation complexes in yeast (210). The FACT complex also interacts with elongation factors such as Spt4-Spt5, Spt6, and Paf1 complex in yeast (211). The human FACT complex has also been found to have a physical and functional interaction with MCM helicase, contributing to the initiation of DNA replication (212). SSRP1 has a role in recombination-mediated DNA damage, while Spt16 is required for transcriptional restart after UV-induced DNA damage (213, 214). The FACT complex has also been found to interact with PARP1 and RPA, proteins involved in DNA damage repair processes such as homologous recombination (215)(216).

The FACT complex has been found to associate with HSV-1 genomes throughout infection (29, 85, 181). Furthermore, the FACT complex has been found to be an important factor in the infectious cycle of other Herpesviruses. SSRP1 is involved in the latent replication of KSHV and in the efficient transcription of CMV immediate early genes (217, 218).

1.5 RATIONALE

Herpes Simplex Virus 1 (HSV-1) is a common infection of the oral and genital mucosa. There is interest both in designing new therapeutics to treat HSV-1 infections and in using HSV-1 as a vector to design treatments for other ailments. Throughout the productive lifecycle of HSV-1 the virus interacts with and hijacks cellular proteins and in doing so alters numerous cellular pathways. Understanding how viral proteins regulate viral and cellular processes and also how cellular proteins are redirected by HSV-1 is important to developing treatments and understanding the effects of a potential vector.

In Chapter 2 we will determine how the FACT complex is recruited to viral DNA and elucidate the FACT complex's role in viral infection.

In Chapter 3 we will reveal the contribution of ICP22 to the repression of cellular transcription during productive HSV-1 infection.

2.0 A HERPESVIRAL IMMEDIATE EARLY PROTEIN PROMOTES TRANSCRIPTION ELONGATION OF VIRAL TRANSCRIPTS

The following study was published June 13, 2017 in mBio. "A Herpesviral Immediate Early Protein Promotes Transcription Elongation of Viral Transcripts" by Hannah L. Fox, Jill A. Dembowski, and Neal A. DeLuca. Copyright © 2017, American Society for Microbiology. Reproduced here under the terms of the Creative Commons CC BY license.

2.1 PROJECT SUMMARY

Herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV-1) genes are transcribed by cellular RNA polymerase II (RNA Pol II). While four viral immediate early proteins (ICP4, ICP0, ICP27, and ICP22) function in some capacity in viral transcription, the mechanism by which ICP22 functions remains unclear. We observed that the FACT complex (comprised of SSRP1 and Spt16) was relocalized in infected cells as a function of ICP22. ICP22 was also required for the association of FACT and the transcription elongation factors SPT5 and SPT6 with viral genomes. We further demonstrated that the FACT complex interacts with ICP22 throughout infection. We therefore hypothesized that ICP22 recruits cellular transcription elongation factors to viral genomes for efficient transcription elongation of viral genes. We reevaluated the phenotype of an ICP22 mutant virus by determining the abundance of all viral mRNAs throughout infection by transcriptione

sequencing (RNA-seq). The accumulation of almost all viral mRNAs late in infection was reduced compared to the wild type, regardless of kinetic class. Using chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing (ChIP-seq), we mapped the location of RNA Pol II on viral genes and found that RNA Pol II levels on the bodies of viral genes were reduced in the ICP22 mutant compared to wild-type virus. In contrast, the association of RNA Pol II with transcription start sites in the mutant was not reduced. Taken together, our results indicate that ICP22 plays a role in recruiting elongation factors like the FACT complex to the HSV-1 genome to allow for efficient viral transcription elongation late in viral infection and ultimately infectious virion production.

2.2 IMPORTANCE

HSV-1 interacts with many cellular proteins throughout productive infection. Here, we demonstrate the interaction of a viral protein, ICP22, with a subset of cellular proteins known to be involved in transcription elongation. We determined that ICP22 is required to recruit the FACT complex and other transcription elongation factors to viral genomes and that in the absence of ICP22 viral transcription is globally reduced late in productive infection, due to an elongation defect. This insight defines a fundamental role of ICP22 in HSV-1 infection and elucidates the involvement of cellular factors in HSV-1 transcription.

2.3 INTRODUCTION

During productive infection, herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV-1) transcription is complexly regulated by both viral and cellular factors. Genes are transcribed by cellular RNA polymerase II (RNA Pol II) (219) in an ordered cascade with four classes: immediate early (α), early (β), leaky late (γ 1), and true late (γ 2) genes (61, 220). Four of the five immediate early proteins, ICP4, ICP0, ICP27, and ICP22, are involved in the regulation of viral transcription. ICP4 is a transcription factor that recruits cellular complexes, including TFIID and mediator, to viral genes to enhance transcription initiation and can also function to repress transcription of some viral genes (73, 221, 222). ICP0 is an E3 ubiquitin ligase (223) and plays a role in counteracting the repression of incoming viral genomes by host factors (224, 225) and abrogating the interferon response to infection (141, 226). ICP27 is involved in the nuclear export of viral mRNAs and has a role in recruiting RNA Pol II to viral genes (170, 227, 228). The immediate early protein ICP22 has been implicated in the promotion of late gene transcription, but the mechanism by which it functions is unknown (78, 173–175).

ICP22 is a 420-amino-acid protein that is extensively posttranslationally modified, including phosphorylation by the viral protein UL13 (177, 178, 229). ICP22 is required for efficient productive infection *in vivo* and in fibroblast cells such as MRC5 cells. ICP22 mutants are notably less restricted in Vero, HeLa, and HEp-2 cell lines (78, 173, 183, 184). Studies of ICP22 mutants in restrictive cells have shown that in the absence of ICP22 the expression of certain late genes is reduced (78, 79, 173, 175, 185). Additionally, virions produced by an ICP22 mutant virus are abnormally assembled, possibly due to reduced levels of the products of the late genes that encode virion assembly and structural proteins (186).

ICP22 expression is associated with two effects on the cellular environment that may be

related to its role in productive viral infection: the modification of RNA Pol II and the formation of VICE (virus-induced chaperone-enriched) domains (182). In uninfected cells, the C-terminal domain (CTD) of RNA Pol II is sequentially phosphorylated during cellular gene transcription. These modifications follow a pattern in which hypophosphorylated RNA Pol II is recruited to promoters and is then phosphorylated on serine-5 (Ser-5) of the CTD around the start of transcription initiation. As RNA Pol II proceeds along the gene, serine-2 (Ser-2) of the CTD is phosphorylated and Ser-5 phosphorylation gradually decreases toward the 3' end of the gene. Phosphorylation of Ser-2 of the CTD is typically associated with the ability of RNA Pol II to overcome promoter-proximal pausing and facilitate elongation (190, 230). During infection with HSV-1, the CTD of RNA Pol II is uniquely modified: RNA Pol II exhibiting both Ser-5 and Ser-2 phosphorylation of the CTD is rapidly decreased in the cell, and RNA Pol II exhibiting only Ser-5 phosphorylation of the CTD accumulates. The alteration of CTD modifications requires ICP22 and has been hypothesized to affect viral transcription in some way (185, 195, 231, 232). VICE domains have been shown to sequester host protein chaperones (233) and to accumulate nascent proteins during HSV-1 infection (234).

Our laboratory recently developed a modified iPOND (isolation of proteins on nascent DNA) protocol to purify viral genomes and analyze proteins associated with these genomes during productive infection (85, 181). Many viral and cellular proteins were found to be associated with viral genomes, including ICP22 and a number of cellular proteins involved in transcription. Some transcription factors identified by this method have been previously shown to interact with ICP4, such as TFIID and mediator (58). The FACT transcription elongation complex was one of the most abundant protein complexes identified and was found to relocalize to viral replication compartments. The mechanism underlying this recruitment has not been

determined (85, 181).

Preliminary experiments with viruses deficient for one or more immediate early proteins suggested that ICP22 may be involved in the recruitment of the FACT complex to viral genomes. To elucidate the role of ICP22 in HSV-1 productive infection, we undertook to further characterize the phenotype of an ICP22 mutant. In this study, we purified wild-type (wt) and ICP22 mutant viral genomes from infected cells to determine which proteins require ICP22 in order to associate with viral DNA. We found that the amounts of FACT complex subunits SSRP1 and Spt16 were substantially reduced on ICP22 mutant genomes. The FACT complex was originally identified for its role in transcription elongation through nucleosomes (200). We therefore sought to characterize the role of ICP22 in the recruitment of the FACT complex to viral genomes during productive HSV-1 infection and to investigate the transcriptional defects that occur in the absence of ICP22. We demonstrate that ICP22 physically interacts with the FACT complex and is essential for FACT complex and transcription elongation factor recruitment to viral DNA. Furthermore, in the absence of ICP22, RNA Pol II association with gene bodies was reduced while the association with transcription start site regions of viral genes was not affected. Taken together, our results indicate that ICP22 plays a role in recruiting elongation factors, including the FACT complex, to viral genomes to allow for efficient transcription elongation of viral genes.

2.4 RESULTS

Previously, our lab has reported that the FACT complex is abundant on HSV-1 genomes during viral replication (181). Additionally, SSRP1 is redistributed within the nucleus upon infection in

KOS-infected cells compared to mock-infected cells, although Spt16 and SSRP1 protein levels are not altered by infection (181) (**Fig. 5**). In order to determine if any of the viral immediate early proteins were responsible for this redistribution and recruitment of the FACT complex to viral genomes, we used immunofluorescence to assay SSRP1 redistribution in cells infected with a panel of viruses deficient for one or more immediate early proteins (**Table S1**). We determined that SSRP1 was not redistributed upon infection with viruses deficient for ICP22. We therefore hypothesized that ICP22 may play a role in recruiting the FACT complex to viral genomes and that, by defining the relationship between ICP22 and the FACT complex, we could elucidate the role of ICP22 in productive infection.

Virus	Genes Mutated	SSRP1 Relocalization		
	(ICP)			
d109	4, 27, 22 , 47, 0	NO		
d106	4, 27, 22 , 47	NO		
d95	4, 27, 22	NO		
d92	4, 27	YES		
d96	4, 22	NO		
DMP	27, 22	NO		
d120	4	YES		
5dl1.2	27	YES		
d99	0	YES		
n199	22	NO		

Table S1. Analysis of SSRP1 localization in IE Mutants. Vero cells were infected with viruses defective in one or more HSV-1 immediate early protein. Infected cells were fixed and stained 3 hours post infection. Images were analyzed to determine whether SSRP1 reorganized into puncta (YES) or remained mostly in the nucleolus (NO). Virus references are included in Materials and Methods.

Redistribution of FACT complex subunit SSRP1 requires ICP22 expression.Immunofluorescence was used to further characterize the redistribution of the FACT complex relative to viral genomes as a function of ICP22. Vero cells were infected with either wild-type virus (KOS) or ICP22 mutant virus (n199), and cultures were incubated with the nucleoside analogue in the medium from 4 to 6 h postinfection (hpi). 5-Ethynyl-2'-deoxycytidine (EdC) labeling of replicating viral genomes enables tagging of viral DNA with Alexa Fluor via click chemistry (85, 181). The cultures were fixed at 6 hpi, labeled viral genomes were tagged with Alexa Fluor, and SSRP1 was probed via indirect immunofluorescence. In mock-infected cells, SSRP1 was concentrated in the nucleolus (**Fig. 6A**), where it is known to play a role in RNA polymerase I-mediated transcription of rRNA (203). In KOS-infected cells, SSRP1 colocalized with viral genomes in replication compartments in addition to gathering in foci around viral replication compartments. In n199-infected cells, SSRP1 did not relocalize and was excluded from viral replication compartments.



Figure 5. Abundance of FACT complex proteins and localization of SSRP1 in infected cells. (A) MRC5 cells were infected with wild-type (KOS) virus at an MOI of 10. Cell lysates were collected at the indicated hours postinfection. Cell lysates were run on a 10% SDS-PAGE gel and probed with antibodies against Spt16, SSRP1, ICP4, and GAPDH. (B) Vero cells were infected with unlabeled KOS, or KOS prelabeled with 10 μ M EdC, at an MOI of 10. Cells infected with prelabeled KOS were fixed at 3 hpi. Cells infected with unlabeled KOS were incubated in medium containing 10 μ M EdC starting at 4 hpi and then fixed at 6 hpi. Fixed cells were stained with Hoechst stain (blue) and reacted with Alexa Fluor azide as described in Materials and Methods to visualize viral DNA (green). SSRP1 was detected by immunofluorescence (red).

Because ICP22 is an immediate early protein, we also used immunofluorescence to visualize the localization of SSRP1 early in infection. Vero cells were infected with KOS or n199, fixed at 3 hpi, and probed with antibodies specific for ICP4 and SSRP1. ICP4 was used to represent the location of viral DNA because it has been shown to colocalize with viral genomes throughout infection (181). In cells infected with KOS, SSRP1 was redistributed into discrete foci in the nucleus by 3 hpi (**Fig. 6B**), and these foci were distinct from the majority of ICP4-containing foci. In cells infected with the ICP22 mutant n199, SSRP1 remained concentrated in

the nucleolus, resembling mock-infected cells. We additionally observed that in cells infected with viral mutants that express ICP22 but do not express ICP4 or other combinations of immediate early proteins (**Table S1**), SSRP1 is redistributed similarly to SSRP1 in wild-type-infected cells. The redistribution of SSRP1 in infected cells is therefore a specific function of ICP22. These data suggest that ICP22 affects the redistribution of SSRP1 in the cell throughout infection.



Figure 6. Abundance of FACT complex proteins and localization of SSRP1 in infected cells. (A) MRC5 cells were infected with wild-type (KOS) virus at an MOI of 10. Cell lysates were collected at the indicated hours postinfection. Cell lysates were run on a 10% SDS-PAGE gel and probed with antibodies against Spt16, SSRP1, ICP4, and GAPDH. (B) Vero cells were infected with unlabeled KOS, or KOS prelabeled with 10 μ M EdC, at an MOI of 10. Cells infected with prelabeled KOS were fixed at 3 hpi. Cells infected with unlabeled KOS were incubated in medium containing 10 μ M EdC starting at 4 hpi and then fixed at 6 hpi. Fixed cells were stained with Hoechst stain (blue) and reacted with Alexa Fluor azide as described in Materials and Methods to visualize viral DNA (green). SSRP1 was detected by immunofluorescence (red).

ICP22 is necessary for the association of elongation factors with viral genomes. In order to determine how ICP22 affects the association of the FACT complex and other viral and cellular factors with the viral genome, we purified replicating KOS and n199 viral DNA, along with associated proteins, from infected cells as previously described (85, 181). We infected MRC5 cells at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 10 PFU/cell with either n199 or KOS and incubated cells in the presence of EdC from 4 to 6 hpi to label replicating viral DNA. Infected cultures without EdC added to the medium served as a negative control. At 6 hpi, nuclei were harvested and EdC-labeled viral DNA was covalently tagged with biotin via click chemistry. Genomes were then purified on streptavidin beads, and associated proteins were identified by mass spectrometry. Many viral and cellular proteins were enriched on both the KOS and n199 viral genomes relative to unlabeled negative controls (**Table S2**).

The association of most viral and cellular proteins with viral genomes was comparable between KOS and n199 as indicated by the similar recoveries of spectral counts (SpC) (**Table 1**). Levels of viral DNA binding proteins ICP4, UL42, and ICP8 were very similar between KOS and n199 EdC-labeled samples. Furthermore, the viral replication proteins UL9 (origin binding protein) and UL30 (DNA polymerase), as well as cellular DNA repair proteins, were present at similar levels on KOS and n199 genomes. Transcription initiation factors were found to be present at similar levels on KOS and n199 genomes or were slightly increased on n199 genomes. Interestingly, the levels of a subset of cellular transcription factors were selectively reduced on n199 genomes relative to KOS genomes. Most striking was the relative deficiency of a number of cellular transcription factors. Specifically, there was a reduction in Spt5, Spt6, and FACT complex members Spt16 and SSRP1, as well as a modest reduction in the levels of RNA Pol II subunits. Both Spt16 and SSRP1 levels were reduced more than 20-fold, providing evidence that ICP22 plays a role in recruiting the FACT complex to replicating viral genomes.

	Replicate 1		Replicate 2	
	KOS	n199	KOS	n199
Viral Proteins				
ICP4	689	696	834	916
ICP22	60	2	63	3
ICP8	592	539	972	910
UL9	199	218	255	341
UL30	213	229	456	507
UL42	369	255	411	320
Cellular Repair Proteins				
XRCC5 (KU80)	89	88	101	130
XRCC6 (KU70)	62	66	55	65
RNA Polymerase II Subunits				
PolrA	35	17	102	82
PolrB	19	6	47	42
Transcription Elongation				
Factors Spt16	57	4	78	7
SSRP1	43	0	29	0
Spt5	0	0	32	10
Spt6	12	0	41	2
Cdk9	5	9	6	11
Transcription Initiation				
TBP (TFIID)	0	0	6	5
TAF1 (TFIID)	0	0	5	12
TAF6 (TFIID)	0	10	2	8
ERCC2 (TFIIH)	6	13	8	13
ERCC3 (TFIIH)	3	13	12	32
MED12 (Mediator)	13	20	43	62
MED14 (Mediator)	8	26	41	92
MED23 (Mediator)	23	50	60	112
MED 24 (Mediator)	15	23	25	52

Table 1. Proteins Associated with Viral Genomes. MRC5 cells were infected with wild-type (KOS) or an ICP22 mutant (n199) at an MOI of 10 and were incubated with EdC-containing medium or negative-control medium (no EdC) from 4 to 6 hpi. At 6 hpi, nuclei were harvested and the DNA was purified as described in Materials and Methods. Proteins eluted from genomes were analyzed by mass spectrometry. Values indicate spectral counts determined by mass spectrometry.

ICP22 interacts with FACT complex members SSRP1 and Spt16.Results thus far demonstrated that ICP22 is required for the relocalization of the FACT complex in infected cells and its association with viral genomes. In order to determine if these observations involve an interaction between ICP22 and FACT complex components, we constructed a virus expressing

N-terminally FLAG-tagged ICP22 in a KOS background (ICP22-FLAG) to use in immunofluorescence and coimmunoprecipitation experiments.

As in wt virus-infected cells, SSRP1 was relocalized from the pattern seen in mockinfected cells to discrete nuclear foci in ICP22-FLAG-infected cells (**Fig. 7A**). Furthermore, FLAG-tagged ICP22 colocalized with SSRP1. The number of SSRP1 foci in ICP22-FLAGinfected cells in **Fig. 7A** is fewer than the number of foci seen in **Fig. 6B** in wt virus-infected cells. While this may indicate that the relocalization is delayed in ICP22-FLAG-infected cells, we believe that this is most likely due to cell-to-cell variation.

We therefore immunoprecipitated ICP22-FLAG to determine if FACT complex members physically interact with ICP22. We infected cells with ICP22-FLAG, lysed cells at 3 or 6 hpi, and immunoprecipitated ICP22-FLAG and associated proteins with anti-FLAG antibody-coated magnetic beads. Mock-, KOS-, and n199-infected cells were used as controls. Proteins were eluted from the beads with 3×FLAG peptide and subjected to Western blot analysis. Both of the FACT complex subunits, SSRP1 and Spt16, coprecipitated with ICP22. Treatment of purified complexes prior to immunoprecipitation with Benzonase, a nuclease that degrades all forms of DNA and RNA, did not disrupt the interactions between ICP22 and FACT complex members, indicating that the presence of nucleic acid in the sample did not contribute to coprecipitation (**Fig. 7B**). Taken together, these data indicate that ICP22 interacts with complex members either directly or as part of a complex.



Figure 7. Interaction of ICP22 and the FACT complex in infected cells. (A) Localization of SSRP1 and ICP22-FLAG in infected cells. Vero cells were infected with virus expressing FLAG-tagged ICP22 protein (ICP22-FLAG) at an MOI of 10. Cells were fixed at 3 and 6 hpi and stained with Hoechst stain (blue). ICP22-FLAG (green) and SSRP1 (red) were detected by immunofluorescence. Single cells shown are representative of cells in two independent replicates. (B) Isolation of FLAG-tagged ICP22 and associated proteins in infected cells. MRC5 cells were infected with ICP22-FLAG at an MOI of 10. Cells were harvested at 3 or 6 hpi. Lysates were treated with (+) or without (-) Benzonase and bound to anti-FLAG beads. Proteins bound to the beads were eluted with 3×FLAG peptide and run on an SDS-PAGE gel. Gels were immunoblotted with anti-SSRP1, anti-Spt16, and anti-FLAG.

Viral mRNA and genome abundance in ICP22 mutant-infected cells.To further investigate the significance of the interaction between the FACT complex and ICP22, we reevaluated the gene expression and DNA replication phenotypes of n199 (235) using more sensitive approaches. It has previously been reported that the rate of viral DNA replication of ICP22 mutant virus is similar to that of wild-type virus based on hybridization assays (78, 185, 235). To obtain a more quantitative account of viral DNA replication in the absence of ICP22, we used quantitative PCR to measure the number of viral genomes over time. We carried out infections in

MRC5 cells, which are known to be restrictive to ICP22 mutant virus. One million cells were infected at an MOI of 5, and DNA was harvested throughout the productive viral replication cycle. DNA replication rates did not differ significantly between KOS and n199, indicating that ICP22 likely does not play a significant role in viral DNA replication (**Fig. 8A**). We also assessed infectious virus production throughout infection using plaque assays. We observed an almost 20-fold reduction in infectious virus produced from n199-infected cells compared to KOS-infected cells (**Fig. 8A**). These data suggest that although the n199 genome efficiently replicates, it has some defect or defects that prevent infectious virus virus production.

Previously, a reduction in late gene expression has been presumed to contribute to the reduced infectivity associated with n199. We therefore quantified viral mRNA abundance throughout infection to identify transcriptional defects with n199. Transcriptome sequencing (RNA-seq) was used to measure viral transcript levels at different times after infection with wt (KOS) or ICP22 mutant (n199) virus. RNA-seq data indicated that although late gene mRNA accumulation was indeed impaired in n199 as reported, the expression of viral genes in other classes was also affected (**Fig. 8B**). Reduced gene expression appears to depend more on the time postinfection than on the kinetic class of a particular gene. Specifically, the expression of viral genes that are increasingly expressed after 6 hpi in KOS was reduced in n199 compared to KOS, regardless of kinetic class. These genes include those previously identified to be less expressed in ICP22 mutant-infected cells, such as RL1, which codes for ICP0; US11 (175); UL48, which codes for VP16; UL44, which codes for gC; and UL36 (185). We also observed decreased expression of genes such as β genes UL9, UL42, UL50, and UL52; γ 1 genes US6 and UL19; and γ 2 genes UL45, UL35, and UL38, among others.



Figure 8. Replication and gene expression of an ICP22 mutant. (A) DNA replication and viral replication of ICP22 mutant n199 compared to wild-type KOS. MRC5 cells were infected and assayed at 4, 6, 8, 12, and 24 hpi. DNA replication was determined by quantitative PCR (genomes). Points are averages from 2 experiments; error bars represent standard deviations. Viral replication was determined by plaque assay (PFU). Points are averages from 2 experiments; error bars represent standard deviations. (B) RNA-seq analysis of select genes in all kinetic classes in ICP22 mutant (n199) compared to wild type (KOS). MRC5 cells were infected at an MOI of 5 and assayed at 2, 4, 6, 8, 12, and 16 hpi. Viral transcripts were quantified by RNA-seq as described in Materials and Methods.

Elongation of RNA polymerase transcription is impaired in an ICP22 mutant.In ICP22 mutant-infected cells, there was a global reduction in the abundance of all viral transcripts late in infection (**Fig. 8B**). Furthermore, the main difference in the recruitment of cellular proteins to the n199 genome relative to KOS appears to be limited to factors involved in transcription elongation (**Table 1**). In order to determine if the reduced abundance of viral transcripts in the absence of ICP22 could be due to a defect in transcription elongation, we mapped the distribution of RNA Pol II on KOS and n199 genomes by chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing (ChIP-seq) at 6 hpi, a critical time for the observed phenotypes. MRC5 cells were

infected with either KOS or n199 and cross-linked at 6 hpi to capture the state of the genome at that time, and parallel immunoprecipitations were performed with antibodies specific for RNA Pol II and ICP4.

In wt HSV-1-infected cells, a unique form of RNA Pol II (IIi), in which the CTD is phosphorylated on Ser-5, accumulates. Additionally, reduction in the unphosphorylated form (IIa) and even greater reduction in the hyperphosphorylated form (IIo), in which the CTD is phosphorylated on both Ser-5 and Ser-2, are observed (195, 231). In ICP22 mutant virus-infected cells, the IIi form does not accumulate and there is greater abundance of the IIa form than in KOS-infected cells (185). We performed parallel immunoprecipitations with the two RNA Pol II antibodies 8WG16 and 4H8. 8WG16 recognizes both the IIa and the HSV-specific IIi forms of RNA Pol II, both of which are present in HSV-1-infected cells (195). 4H8 recognizes Ser-5modified RNA Pol II and should therefore recognize IIi. Additionally, 4H8 recognizes RNA Pol II with both Ser-5 and Ser-2 phosphorylated because Ser-2 phosphorylation does not inhibit binding of the antibody to its Ser-5 epitope and should therefore recognize IIo (190). Although 8WG16 is more specific for IIa than 4H8, 4H8 can also recognize IIa. Both 8WG16 and 4H8 have been used in previous ChIP-seq studies to determine RNA Pol II levels on individual genes and have been found to detect similar patterns (236). Therefore, by using both 8WG16 and 4H8, we are able to detect all forms of RNA Pol II that have been identified to be present in KOS- and n199-infected cells (185).

Immunoprecipitated DNA was sequenced to determine the relative abundance of RNA Pol II and ICP4 across the viral genome. Consistent with results from the DNA replication assay (**Fig. 8A**), the total numbers of reads that map to the viral genome in the input samples were similar between KOS and n199 (**Fig. S1A**). Furthermore, consistent with mass spectrometry analysis (**Table 1**), the numbers of reads that map to the viral genome in ICP4 ChIP samples were similar between KOS and n199 and the numbers of reads that map to the viral genome in the RNA Pol II ChIP samples were somewhat reduced for n199 relative to KOS (**Fig. S1A**).



Figure 9. ChIP analysis of ICP4 and RNA Pol II on ICP22 mutant versus wt (KOS) genomes. MRC5 cells were infected with wild type (KOS) or ICP22 mutant (n199) at an MOI of 10. The infected cells were harvested and processed for ChIP-seq as described in Materials and Methods. (A) Mapped reads of the region between UL42 and UL48 on the genome for ChIP of ICP4, RNA Pol II (4H8), or RNA Pol II (8WG16) in n199- or KOS-infected cells. The maximums on the *y* axis are to the top left of each panel. Experiments were repeated twice, and the figure represents one data set. (B) Normalized ratio of n199 over KOS reads for start sites or gene bodies of representative IE, E, and L genes. The values used were averages from two experiments using the 4H8 antibody.

The reads mapping across the viral genome for ICP4 and RNA Pol II are shown in **Fig. S1B**. The distribution of ICP4 across the viral genome was unaffected by mutation of ICP22. The details of ICP4 binding to the viral genome will be published elsewhere. At this level of resolution, the difference between the RNA Pol II binding profiles of n199 and KOS is quite subtle. The peaks in the n199 samples appear to be better defined with a possible reduction in read numbers between the peaks compared to the KOS samples. 8WG16 and 4H8 antibodies produced read patterns similar to one another and reveal the same differences in binding patterns between KOS and n199.

A higher-resolution representation of **Fig. S1B** in the region between UL42 and UL48 is shown in **Fig. 9A**. These genes are all expressed at 6 hpi in KOS-infected cells and represent members of the early through true late classes of genes. The numbers of reads in the RNA Pol II ChIP at or near transcription start sites were similar between KOS and n199. However, the numbers of reads mapping beyond the start site, in the message bodies, appeared to be significantly reduced in n199 (**Fig. 9A**).

In order to compare the relative abundance of Pol II and ICP4 on the start sites and message bodies of n199 and KOS, we calculated the ratio of normalized n199 to KOS reads for individual gene mRNA start sites and gene bodies of select genes representative of different kinetic classes for both ICP4 and RNA Pol II (**Fig. 9B**). For the calculations, we used the data from the 4H8 antibody as this antibody should detect the forms of RNA Pol II involved in the transcription of viral genes in KOS- and n199-infected cells, including Ser-5-phosphorylated RNA Pol II and RNA Pol II phosphorylated on both Ser-5 and Ser-2 (IIo). An example of the analysis is shown in **Fig. S2**. In the ICP4 immunoprecipitations, n199-over-KOS read ratios were consistently close to 1 for both gene start sites and gene bodies. On the other hand, the n199-

over-KOS read ratios for the RNA Pol II immunoprecipitations were reduced on n199 viral gene bodies compared to KOS, particularly for genes whose mRNA levels were reduced later in infection in the ICP22 mutant (**Fig. 8B**). The number of RNA Pol II reads on transcription start sites was not reduced in n199 relative to KOS, with more reads on the n199 start sites in some cases (**Fig. 9B**). This observation supports a model in which transcription elongation is reduced in the absence of ICP22; however, transcription initiation is unaffected.

2.5 SUPPLEMENTAL FIGURES



Figure S1. Total ChIPseq Reads. (A) Percent of reads from n199 samples over KOS samples. Data for each replicate and average of the two replicates. (B) Mapped reads on the HSV-1 genome for ChIP of ICP4, RNA Pol II 4H8, and RNA Pol II 8WG16 in n199 or KOS infected cells. The maximums on the y-axis are listed at the top of each panel. The number below is the total mapped reads.



Figure S2. Calculation of Start Site and Gene Body Reads for Selected Genes. A schematic of how the numbers in Figure 4B were calculated using the gene UL44 as an example.

2.6 DISCUSSION

HSV-1 genes are transcribed by cellular RNA Pol II (219). However, the Pol II machinery of the cell is perturbed or augmented by viral gene products, resulting in the selective and efficient expression of viral genes. For example, the immediate early protein ICP4 plays an important role in the regulation of transcription initiation. ICP4 binds to viral DNA and interacts with crucial cellular proteins involved in transcription initiation such as transcription factors, TFIID, and mediator (58, 158), facilitating their recruitment to the viral genome. In this study, we describe findings that shed light on how the immediate early protein ICP22 affects RNA Pol II transcription of viral genes, thus promoting the production of viral progeny. Specifically, ICP22 interacts with the FACT complex and is responsible for the relocation of FACT in the nucleus and its recruitment to the viral genome along with two other transcription elongation factors, Spt5 and Spt6. In addition, while ICP22 was not required for wt levels of RNA Pol II on the transcription start sites of viral genes, the amount of RNA Pol II in the bodies of viral genes was significantly reduced in the absence of ICP22. These observations suggest that ICP22 promotes the elongation of RNA Pol II transcription of viral genes late after infection, likely through the recruitment of transcription elongation factors.

The FACT complex is a histone chaperone that is known to dissociate H2A-H2B dimers from nucleosomes to allow access to DNA by elongating RNA Pol II and other factors (204, 237). The FACT complex is involved in cellular transcription elongation in addition to other processes in the cell such as DNA replication (238, 239). In addition to displacing nucleosomes by dissociating H2A-H2B dimers, the FACT complex can also destabilize nucleosomes globally, contributing to the maintenance of a loose chromatin structure (206). The FACT complex may therefore contribute to the establishment and maintenance of the loosely associated chromatin structure observed on HSV-1 genomes during viral DNA replication (240). Furthermore, the FACT complex has been found to be involved in the latent replication of Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus and in the efficient transcription of human cytomegalovirus immediate early genes (217, 218). In addition to the FACT complex, we discovered a substantial decrease in the amount of Spt6 and Spt5 recruited to viral genomes in the absence of ICP22 (**Table 1**). All of these proteins have established roles in cellular transcription elongation and are known to interact with RNA Pol II and one another (241–244). If these factors are not recruited to paused RNA Pol II, transcription arrest can occur (190).

Previously, it was determined that late gene transcription, as well as the transcription of the immediate early gene that codes for ICP0, is attenuated in ICP22 mutants (78, 173, 175, 186). However, the connection between the genes affected was not elucidated. It has been suggested that a common sequence may be responsible for uniting those genes affected by ICP22 (182). We used RNA-seq to characterize the transcription of viral genes in the ICP22 mutant and observed a global decrease in viral mRNA abundance beginning at 4 to 6 hpi, after the onset of viral DNA replication. Late genes are affected more drastically and noticeably because they are typically upregulated 4 to 6 hpi. Immediate early and early genes that are typically expressed at consistent or rising levels at 4 to 6 hpi, including ICP0, are impacted by the absence of ICP22 in a manner similar to late genes (**Fig. 8B**). Consistent with previous observations (78, 185, 235) we did not find a defect in viral DNA replication in the n199 background (**Fig. 8A**).

The observation that transcription elongation factors are reduced on ICP22 mutant genomes suggests that transcription elongation may be responsible for the inefficient viral gene expression in ICP22 mutants. This hypothesis is further supported by the ChIP-seq data demonstrating a specific reduction in the amount of RNA Pol II on the bodies of viral genes in the ICP22 mutant compared to wild-type virus, whereas that amount of RNA Pol II on their transcription start sites was relatively unaffected (**Fig. 9**).

The forms of RNA Pol II in HSV-infected cells are relevant to these observations. In uninfected cells, unphosphorylated RNA Pol II (IIa) is recruited to promoters, where it is phosphorylated on Ser-5 at the start of transcription initiation. Ser-2 phosphorylation of paused RNA Pol II results in the hyperphosphorylated form of RNA Pol II (IIo) (245). This form of RNA Pol II is closely associated with actively elongating cellular transcripts, and elongation factors such as Spt6 are known to bind to Ser-2-phosphorylated forms (246, 247). However, Ser-2-phosphorylated forms of Pol II are greatly depleted in wild-type and ICP22 mutant virus-infected cells (185, 195, 231, 232, 248). This raises the question of how transcription elongation occurs in infected cells with altered Pol II CTD phosphorylation.

The formation of the IIo form of RNA Pol II requires the action of cdk9. However, there is a lack of consensus on the role of phosphorylation of Ser-2 of the CTD by cdk9 in HSV-1 gene transcription. It has been postulated that ICP22 interacts with or recruits cdk9 in order to phosphorylate Ser-2 of the CTD (197, 249). There is evidence that ICP22 physically associates with cdk9 (197, 249) and that inhibition of kinases such as cdk9 can lead to decreased transcription during HSV-1 infection (196). Others have observed a rapid loss of RNA Pol II Ser-2 phosphorylation when ICP22 is expressed in cells either transiently or at later times during infection, indicating that Ser-2 phosphorylation by cdk9 may not be necessary for efficient viral transcription (79, 185, 231, 232). Moreover, it has been proposed that ICP22 interacts with cdk9 in order to inhibit it and prevent Ser-2 phosphorylation (198, 199). Supporting this is the observation that cellular transcripts are repressed during infection with HSV-1. Notably, this reduction in cellular transcription is enhanced late in infection (248). It may be that cdk9 and

Ser-2 phosphorylation is more important early in infection and that late after infection ICP22 is required to sustain transcription elongation. In addition, persisting small amounts of Ser-2 phosphorylation in Vero cells may be a possible explanation for the reduced requirement of ICP22 in Vero cells relative to human fibroblasts. The possible temporal involvement of cdk9 in HSV infection and the basis for the differential requirement for ICP22 in different cell types remain to be tested.

We propose that ICP22 facilitates the recruitment of Spt5, Spt6, and the FACT complex to transcribing RNA Pol II independently of the form of Pol II involved in elongation in uninfected cells. Evidence exists that ICP22 interacts with RNA Pol II (196). The recruitment of the elongation factors through these interactions would then facilitate the elongation of viral transcripts, possibly by ensuring a looser chromatin structure on viral gene bodies. The precise nature of these interactions, the role of chromatin, and the implications for cellular transcription are under investigation.

2.7 MATERIAL AND METHODS

Cells and viruses. Experiments were performed using MRC5 (human fetal lung) or Vero (African green monkey kidney) cells obtained from and propagated as recommended by ATCC. The viruses used in this study include wild-type KOS, 22/n199 (n199), and ICP22-FLAG. n199 is derived from wild-type KOS and contains a linker carrying stop codons in the US1 gene as has been previously described (235). ICP22-FLAG was generated using red-mediated recombination in a bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) containing KOS DNA (250–252). A FLAG tag was inserted after the start codon of US1. Modified BAC constructs were then transfected into Vero

cells using Lipofectamine 2000 transfection reagent (Life Technologies, Inc.). Virus produced was harvested, plaque purified, and sequenced to verify FLAG tag insertion. Additional viruses used include d109, d106, d92, and d99 (53); d95, d96, and DMP (253); d120 (222); and 5dl1.2 (167).

Immunoblotting for protein abundance. MRC5 cells were infected at an MOI of 10 by incubation with KOS virus in Tricine-buffered saline (TBS) for 1 h before inoculum was removed and cells were rinsed with TBS. Cells were then incubated at 37°C in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) containing 2% fetal bovine serum (FBS) for the indicated amount of time. Samples were rinsed with ice-cold TBS plus 0.1 mM tosyl-l-lysyl-chloromethane hydrochloride (TLCK) before being scraped into 2× SDS-PAGE sample buffer. Samples were boiled for 10 min before analysis. Samples were run on a 10% precast gel (Bio-Rad), transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride membrane (Amersham), and probed with the following primary antibodies: rabbit anti-Spt16 H300 (Santa Cruz; 1:500), mouse anti-SSRP1 10D1 (BioLegend; 1:500), anti-ICP4 58S (1:500), and anti-glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (anti-GAPDH) Ambion AM4300. After incubation with anti-rabbit–horseradish peroxidase (HRP) or anti-mouse–HRP secondary antibody (Promega), bands were visualized using ECL Prime Western blot detection reagent (Amersham).

Imaging of viral DNA and immunofluorescence. Vero cells (2×105) were plated on coverslips in 12-well dishes. Cells were infected at an MOI of 10 by incubation with virus in TBS for 1 h before inoculum was removed and cells were rinsed with TBS. Cells were then incubated at 37°C in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) containing 2% fetal bovine serum (FBS) for the indicated amount of time. Labeling of replicating genomes was carried out as described previously (181). Briefly, EdC (10 μ M) was added to the medium of infected cells

at 4 hpi and fixed at 6 hpi. EdC-labeled DNA was then visualized by conjugating EdC to Alexa Fluor 488 azide using the Click-iT Alexa Fluor 488 imaging kit (Thermo Fisher). The immunofluorescence assay was carried out as described previously (181) with the following primary antibodies: rabbit anti-ICP4 N15 (1:500), mouse anti-SSRP1 10D1 (BioLegend; 1:200), and mouse anti-FLAG M2 (Sigma; 1:5,000). Secondary antibodies used included goat anti-rabbit conjugated to Alexa Fluor 488 (Invitrogen; 1:500), goat anti-mouse conjugated to Alexa Fluor 594 (Invitrogen; 1:500), goat anti-mouse IgG2b conjugated to Alexa Fluor 594 (Invitrogen; 1:500), and goat anti-mouse IgG1 conjugated to Alexa Fluor 488 (Invitrogen; 1:500). Images were obtained using an Olympus FluoView FV1000 confocal microscope.

Isolation of viral genomes and associated proteins. Viral DNA isolation was carried out as described previously (85) with the following modifications. MRC5 cells were infected with KOS or n199 at an MOI of 10 and incubated at 37° C in DMEM containing 2% FBS for 4 h, at which time 10 μ M EdC was added to the medium. Infections carried out in the absence of EdC were used as negative controls. At 6 hpi, nuclei were harvested and processed as described above. Genome-associated proteins were analyzed by mass spectrometry as described previously (181). Mass spectrometry was carried out by MSbioworks, LLC, Ann Arbor, MI.

Coimmunoprecipitation and immunoblotting.MRC5 cells were grown to confluence in a 150-mm plate. Cells were infected at an MOI of 10 by incubation with indicated virus or mock infection in TBS for 1 h before the inoculum was removed and cells were rinsed with TBS. Cells were then incubated at 37°C in DMEM containing 2% FBS for the indicated amount of time. After incubation, cells were rinsed with ice-cold TBS plus 0.1 mM tosyl-l-lysylchloromethane hydrochloride (TLCK). Cells were then lysed at 4°C for 30 min in 1.5 ml lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl [pH 7.4], 300 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 1 mM EDTA, Roche protease inhibitor cocktail). Lysates were then centrifuged at $1.8 \times 103 \times g$ for 10 min at 4°C, and supernatants were filtered through a 100-µm cell strainer (Corning). Indicated samples were incubated in 10 µl Benzonase (Novagen) at this step for 10 min. Samples were then combined 1:1 with binding buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl [pH 7.4], 1% Triton X-100, 1 mM EDTA, Roche protease inhibitor cocktail) and added to anti-FLAG M2 magnetic beads (Sigma). Immunoprecipitation was carried out according to the manufacturer's protocol with a few modifications. Briefly, samples were bound to the anti-FLAG beads overnight and following a series of washes with Tris-buffered saline (50 mM Tris-HCl [pH 7.4], 150 mM NaCl, Roche protease inhibitor cocktail). Bound proteins were eluted using the recommended concentration of 3×FLAG peptide (Sigma). Samples were combined 1:1 with 2× SDS-PAGE sample buffer and boiled for 10 min before analysis. Samples were run on a 7.5% precast gel (Bio-Rad), transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride membrane (Amersham), and probed with the following primary antibodies: rabbit anti-Spt16 H300 (Santa Cruz; 1:500), mouse anti-SSRP1 10D1 (BioLegend; 1:500), and mouse anti-FLAG M2 (Sigma; 1:500). After incubation with anti-rabbit-HRP or anti-mouse-HRP secondary antibody (Promega), bands were visualized using ECL Prime Western blot detection reagent (Amersham).

Viral DNA quantification and growth curve.MRC5 cells (1×106) in 35-mm plates were infected with n199 or KOS at an MOI of 5. Cells were infected by incubation with indicated virus or mock infected in TBS for 1 h before removing inoculum and rinsing cells three times with warm TBS. Cells were then incubated at 37°C in DMEM containing 2% FBS for the indicated amount of time.

For DNA quantification, cells were lysed in 200 μ l DNA lysis buffer (0.5% SDS, 100 mM NaCl, 400 μ g/ml proteinase K), incubated at 37°C 4 h to overnight, incubated at 65°C

for 30 min, and diluted 1:1,000 in 1× TE (100 mM Tris, 10 mM EDTA). Quantitative real-time PCR was carried out as described previously (62). Genome quantity was determined based on the amplification of the HSV-1 TK gene using the following primers: TkdsF1 (5'-ACC CGC TTA ACA GCG TCA ACA-3') and TkdsR1 (5'-CCA AAG AGG TGC GGG AGT TT-3'). Standard curves were established using serially diluted purified KOS genomic DNA.

To assess infectious virus production, cells were harvested by scraping into incubation medium. Cells were then lysed by freeze-thaw and sonication, following which cells were pelleted and supernatant was isolated. Supernatant was serially diluted and used to infect Vero cell monolayers in 6-well plates. After infection, cells were incubated at 37°C in overlay medium (DMEM, 10 g/liter methylcellulose, 2% FBS). After 3 days, the medium was removed and cells were stained with 10 mg/ml crystal violet in 50% ethanol. PFU was determined as an average from two duplicate wells.

RNA-seq.MRC5 cells were seeded into 60-mm dishes at a density of 2 × 106 cells per dish, infected with n199 or KOS at an MOI of 10 PFU/cell, and incubated at 37°C. At the appropriate time postinfection, RNA was isolated using the Ambion RNaqueous-4 PCR kit using the included protocol. The isolated total RNA was quantified using an Agilent eukaryotic RNA Nano kit and a 2100 Bioanalyzer. One microgram of total RNA from each sample was used to create sequencing libraries using the TruSeq RNA sample preparation kit (Illumina). Individual samples each with unit barcodes were quantified using an Agilent DNA 7500 chip and a 2100 Bioanalyzer. Pooled multiplexed samples were sequenced at the Tufts University genomics facility. The demultiplexed sequence read files were mapped to the HSV strain KOS genome and quantified using CLC Genomics Workbench.

ChIP-seq.MRC5 cells were seeded into 600-cm2 square tissue culture dishes at a density of 7×107 cells per dish, infected with n199 or KOS at an MOI of 10 PFU/cell, overlaid with 100 ml medium, and incubated at 37°C. At 6 hpi, 5 ml of 20% formaldehyde was added to the culture medium. The cultures were incubated at room temperature for 5 min, followed by the addition of 5 ml of 2.5 M glycine. All subsequent procedures were performed at 4°C unless otherwise stated. The cultures were then washed with TBS and scraped into 50 ml of FLB {5 mM PIPES [piperazine-N,N'-bis(2-ethanesulfonic acid)], pH 8.0, 85 mM KCl, 0.5% Igepal CA-630 [US Biological], Roche protease inhibitor cocktail}. The cells were then pelleted by low-speed centrifugation, resuspended in 5 ml FLB, and pelleted again. The cell pellet was resuspended in 1.2 ml RIPA buffer (1× phosphate-buffered saline [PBS], 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate, Roche protease inhibitor cocktail) and sonicated for 6 intervals of 30 s each on ice with a Sonics Vibra-Cell VCX 130 sonicator equipped with a 3mm microprobe. The sonicated material was centrifuged at $1.8 \times 103 \times g$ for 15 min. DNA was isolated from 50 μ l of the supernatant as a total input control. The remainder was divided equally to use in immunoprecipitations using the ICP4 and RNA Pol II monoclonal antibodies, 58S and either 8WG16 (Abcam; ab817) or 4H8 (Abcam, Inc.; ab5408), respectively. Twenty-five microliters of monoclonal antibody was bound to 50 µl of Dynabeads M280 sheep anti-mouse IgG beads (Invitrogen) in 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in PBS overnight. The antibodycoated beads were extensively washed with 5% BSA in PBS and then added to the reserved sonicated extracts, which were incubated overnight. The immunoprecipitation mixtures were washed five times with LiCl wash buffer (100 mM Tris-HCl buffer, pH 7.5, 500 mM LiCl, 1.0% Igepal CA-630, 1.0% sodium deoxycholate) and once with TE. The beads were then resuspended in IP elution buffer (1.0% sodium dodecyl sulfate, 0.1 M NaHCO3) and incubated at 65°C for 2 h, after which time the beads were removed and incubation of the supernatant was continued overnight at 65°C to reverse cross-links. The samples were then extracted with phenol-chloroform-isoamyl alcohol (25:24:1) twice and with chloroform-isoamyl alcohol (24:1) once and then purified using Qiagen PCR cleanup columns. The quantity of DNA in each sample was quantified using a Qubit 2.0 fluorometer (Invitrogen). Ten nanograms of each sample was used to create sequencing libraries using the NEBNext Ultra II DNA library preparation kit (New England Biolabs). Individual samples each with unit barcodes were quantified using an Agilent DNA 7500 chip and a 2100 Bioanalyzer. Pooled multiplexed samples were sequenced at the Tufts University genomics facility. The demultiplexed sequence read files were mapped to the HSV strain KOS genome and analyzed using CLC Genomics Workbench.

3.0 THE ROLE OF ICP22 IN THE INHIBITION OF CELLULAR TRANSCRITPION DURING HSV-1 INFECTION

3.1 PROJECT SUMMARY

HSV-1 gene transcription requires viral proteins, cellular transcription factors, and RNA polymerase II. As viral transcripts accumulate during productive infection, cellular transcription is repressed, with viral transcripts exceeding cellular transcripts in infected cells by 6 hours post infection. Using RNA-seq we have determined that a virus in which ICP22 is mutated is not only inefficient at promoting the transcription of viral genes, but is also inefficient at repressing cellular transcription. In cells infected with wild type virus, cellular transcripts are substantially downregulated compared to mock infected cells at 6 hours post infection. Fewer cellular genes are downregulated in cells infected with ICP22 mutant virus compared to mock infected cells at 6 hours post infection. We observe this trend escalate throughout the course of infection. In order to determine how transcription shifts from cellular to viral genes we used ChIP-seq to determine the position and abundance of RNA polymerase II on genes at 6 hours post infection. We determined that levels of RNA polymerase II are reduced on cellular genes in wild type infected cells compared to mutant infected cells, suggesting that a lack of recruitment of RNA pol II away from cellular genes may be responsible for the reduced shift from viral to cellular transcription in cells infected with the ICP22 mutant. Additionally, we present evidence that the aberrant

phosphorylation of RNA pol II observed during HSV-1 infection is an important aspect of this strategy. Furthermore, we identified viral and cellular proteins that interact with ICP22 during infection that may be directly recruited by ICP22 to viral genomes.

3.2 IMPORTANCE

HSV-1 eludes cellular immune responses primarily by reducing cellular gene expression at the levels of both transcription and translation. The mechanisms by which HSV-1 accomplishes this while abundantly expressing viral genes are important to understanding HSV-1 pathogenesis. We demonstrated that the viral protein ICP22 usurps cellular proteins in order to promote viral gene transcription at the expense of cellular gene transcription, reducing the ability of cells to respond effectively to viral infection. We therefore present a viral mechanism that enhances viral infection by a direct action on viral production and a seemingly indirect action in cellular transcription, reflecting the intricate interactions between HSV-1 and its host.

3.3 INTRODUCTION

Herpes Simplex Virus (HSV-1) is a common human pathogen that primarily infects epithelial cells and establishes latency in sensory neurons (14). Productive viral infection causes extensive changes in the host cell nucleus, as HSV-1 uses many cellular factors to assist in viral transcription, replication, and assembly (181). In addition to usurping cellular factors and

pathways, HSV-1 also floods host cells with viral proteins of various functions, and suppresses the natural reaction of cells to foreign invaders.

HSV-1 has developed many well-characterized mechanisms to evade cellular responses to infection. Some viral proteins directly target antiviral and immune responses, and some more generally shut down cellular processes that the cell needs to mount a response. Viral tegument proteins are transported between the virion and envelope, allowing for their release upon viral entry into cells. The tegument protein VP22 targets the inflammasome (254). The tegument protein VP16 allows for the rapid transcription of viral Immediate Early (IE) genes (255). The IE protein ICP0 both blocks interferon-stimulated gene (ISG) induction (141) and degrades antiviral factors such as PML to allow for transcription of viral genes (39). Additionally, HSV-1 proteins contribute to a decrease in the abundance of cellular transcripts. The virion host shutoff protein (VHS), a tegument protein, degrades mRNA (256), and the IE protein ICP27 has a role in inhibiting the splicing of cellular mRNAs (139). The overall reduction in cellular transcription upon HSV infection has also been supported by the observations of reduced RNA polymerase II (RNA pol II) on cellular genes (187, 188) and deficient termination of cellular transcripts (257). The exact mechanism behind these observations has yet to be defined.

HSV-1 requires cellular RNA pol II, along with many other viral and cellular factors, to transcribe its genes. Viral transcription is temporally regulated, with genes classified in order of expression: immediate early (IE), early (E), and late (L) (61, 220). The IE proteins ICP4, ICP22, and ICP27 are especially important for the transcription of subsequent gene classes. ICP4 is required for the transcription of E and L genes. ICP4 binds to DNA, and interacts with transcription factors such as TFIID and meditator, recruiting them to viral genomes (58, 222). ICP27 is involved in viral mRNA nuclear export, and may also have roles in other stages of
transcription (170, 227). We have recently demonstrated that ICP22 interacts with, and/or is required for the recruitment of, transcription elongation factors like Spt6 and the FACT complex, promoting efficient viral transcript elongation (258).

Although viral gene transcription is similar to cellular gene transcription, there are some differences that could help explain why viral genes are abundantly transcribed at the expense of cellular genes. First, few viral mRNAs are spliced, making them less sensitive to the detrimental effects of ICP27 on splicing. Second, cellular transcription is regulated by the phosphorylation of the C-terminal domain (CTD) of RNA pol II. Serine-5 phosphorylation (ser-5P) is associated with transcription initiation, and subsequent serine-2 phosphorylation (ser-2P) is associated with transcription elongation (230, 259). During HSV-1 infection, levels of RNA pol II with both ser-5 and ser-2 phosphorylation (ser-5P/ser2P) are reduced in favor of RNA pol II with only ser-5P, a switch associated with ICP22 (185, 195, 231, 232). This switch in phosphorylation may benefit the virus by reducing the transcription elongation of cellular transcripts. Viral transcripts, to which ICP22 can recruit elongation factors, may be efficiently elongated by RNA pol II with only ser-5P, the most abundant form during infection.

Recent papers have used sensitive techniques such as 4SU-sequencing and Pro-seq to explore the effects of HSV-1 infection on cellular transcription termination and RNA pol II position on cellular genes, respectively (188, 260). Although these studies have characterized the state of cellular transcription in cells infected with HSV-1, the complex effects of HSV IE proteins and other elements of infection on transcription have limited conclusions pertaining to mechanism. Here, we use RNA-seq and ChIP-seq of cells infected with ICP22 mutant virus to determine the contribution of ICP22 to the downregulation of cellular transcripts upon infection. We confirm that HSV-1 infection globally downregulates cellular transcription, and, additionally, we suggest that alterations to cellular transcription are a result of the actions of ICP22 in addition to the accumulation of viral genomes throughout infection and other viral mechanisms. Specifically, we propose that ICP22 affects transcription at the level of elongation, recruiting co-transcriptional factors to viral genes. Viral genes can therefore be transcribed by RNA pol II with only ser-5P, and benefit from the change in levels of modified RNA pol II during infection. Additionally, increased viral transcription taking place on viral genomes due to the efficient initiation and elongation of viral transcripts results in higher levels of RNA pol II on viral genomes, leaving less available for the transcription of cellular genes.

3.4 RESULTS

Cellular Transcription in the Presence and Absence of ICP22

To investigate the effect of ICP22 on cellular transcription throughout HSV infection, we quantified viral and cellular mRNA accumulation using transcriptome sequencing (RNA-seq). MRC5 cells were infected at an MOI of 5 and RNA was harvested at 2, 4, 6, 8, and 12 hours post infection (hpi). In cells infected with wild type virus (KOS), as viral transcription increases and the viral life cycle progresses, cellular transcription decreases. Viral transcripts surpass cellular transcripts in WT virus (KOS) infected cells by 6 hpi (Fig. 10A).

Throughout infection WT virus (KOS) and ICP22 mutant virus (n199) DNA replicates at similar rates (258), allowing us to explore the effect of ICP22 on cellular transcription that is unrelated to viral genome replication. We found that during infection with an ICP22 mutant virus (n199), viral transcripts increased and cellular transcripts decreased at a similar rate as in WT

(KOS) infected cells until about 4 hpi. By 6 hpi, while viral transcripts eclipse cellular transcripts and continued to accumulate in cells infected with WT virus (KOS), this did not occur in cells infected with ICP22 mutant virus (n199) (Fig 10A). Exploring this difference gave us the opportunity to elucidate the role of ICP22 on cellular transcription and genome accessibility.



Figure 10. Changes to gene expression in cells infected with HSV-1 with or without ICP22 over the course of productive infection. MRC5 cells were infected at an MOI of 5 with wild type (KOS) virus, ICP22 mutant virus (n199), or TBS (Mock). RNA was harvested at 2, 4, 6, 8, and 12hpi. RNA-seq analysis, followed by differential expression analysis, was performed as described in the methods. (A) Percent of total reads in the sample at each time point that map to either the cellular or viral genome. Data represents 3 biological replicates with standard deviation. (B) Heat map of significantly differentially expressed cellular genes (p < 0.05). EdgeR was used to calculate the logFC of reads mapped to each gene in virus (KOS or n199) infected cells compared to mock infected. Data is based on 3 replicates. (C) Genes expressed logFC of 5 or more (Upregulated) compared to mock and logFC of -5 fold or less (Downregulated) compared between wild type (KOS) and ICP22 mutant (ICP22).

In order to better understand the scope of the effect of infection on cellular gene transcription, we used concurrent transcriptome sequencing of mock-infected cells to calculate differential expression of individual cellular genes between mock-infected samples and samples infected with WT virus (KOS) or ICP22 mutant virus (n199). Including mock-infected samples allowed us to measure expression in infected cells relative to normal expression of cellular genes. Comparing the differential expression of these genes in cells infected with WT (KOS) or ICP22 mutant (n199) virus allowed us to determine which changes in cellular transcription are due to the presence of ICP22. EdgeR was used to calculate which genes were significantly differentially expressed due to infection with either WT (KOS) or ICP22 mutant (n199) virus at any point during infection. Comparing these genes across samples in a heat map confirmed what we observed with overall transcript levels and indicated that there is a global downregulation of many cellular genes during WT (KOS) infection. Many cellular genes were significantly downregulated throughout infection with WT (KOS), and very few were upregulated (Fig 10B). The number of genes downregulated increased throughout infection and the degree to which they were downregulated also increased. In cells infected with ICP22 mutant virus (n199), fewer genes were downregulated over time than in cells infected with WT (KOS) virus and these genes were less robustly downregulated as well (Fig. 10B). The cellular genes that were most differently expressed in cells infected with WT (KOS) or ICP22 mutant (n199) virus (defined as log fold change greater than 5 or less than -5) followed a similar pattern to genes differentially expressed to a lesser extent. Throughout infection with ICP22 mutant virus, more genes were robustly upregulated than throughout infection with WT (KOS) virus. More strikingly, thousands more genes were robustly downregulated throughout infection in cells infected with WT virus (KOS) rather than ICP22 mutant virus (n199) (Fig. 10C).

Alteration of Cellular Pathways During HSV-1 Infection

Although the downregulation of cellular transcripts by HSV-1 infection appears to affect transcription in general as opposed to targeting specific cellular genes, some of the pathways affected by these transcriptional changes may be ones that would otherwise respond to viral infection, thereby allowing HSV-1 to hinder a cellular immune response. Due to the rapid nature with which wild type HSV-1 shuts down host immune responses, Immediate Early (IE) mutants such as d109 (which expresses no IE proteins) have been used to illuminate the host immune response that is mounted by cells and immediately counteracted by the actions of IE proteins (141). Including d109 in our transcriptome analysis allowed us to elucidate the effect of ICP22 on the expression of cellular genes involved in the innate response to HSV-1 infection.

MRC-5 cells were infected with wild type (KOS), ICP22 mutant (n199), mock (TBS) or IE mutant (d109) virus at an MOI of 10 and assayed at 2 hpi and 6 hpi. In contrast to infection with both WT (KOS) and ICP22 mutant (n199), we found many cellular transcripts that were statistically and substantially upregulated in d109 infected cells at both 2hpi and 6hpi compared to mock-infected cells (Fig. 11A, 12A). By 6 hpi, 1378 cellular transcripts were uniquely upregulated in cells infected with d109 as opposed to those infected with WT (KOS) or ICP22 mutant (n199) virus (Fig. 12A). Integrative Pathway Analysis (IPA) performed on these genes revealed an upregulation of gene sets involved in immune response pathways as well as other cellular signaling pathways (Fig. 12B).



Figure 11. Differences in pathway regulation due to HSV-1 infection at 2 hours post infection. MRC5 cells were infected at an MOI of 5 with wild type (KOS) virus, ICP22 mutant virus (n199), IE mutant virus (d109), or TBS (Mock). RNA was harvested at 2 hpi. RNA-seq analysis, followed by differential expression analysis, was performed as described in the methods. EdgeR was used to calculate the logFC of reads mapped to genes in virus (KOS, n199, or d109) infected cells compared to mock infected. Data is based on 3 replicates. (A) Venn Diagrams of cellular genes significantly differentially expressed (p < 0.05) logFC of 1 or more (Upregulated) compared to mock and logFC of -1 fold or less (Downregulated) in cells infected with KOS, n199, or d109. (B) Ingenuity Pathway Core Analysis was performed on all 3 conditions: infection with KOS, n199, or d109. Cellular genes significantly differentially expressed (p < 0.05) were analyzed based on their logFC compared to Mock and p-value from DE analysis on 3 replicates in order to determine canonical pathways affected in each condition. Comparison analysis between the core analyses demonstrated differences in z-score in the heat maps. Selected pathways involved in the immune response and cellular signaling that significantly differed among conditions are clustered and shown in the heat map.

At 2hpi, prior to viral DNA replication, IE proteins are already having an effect on the accumulation of cellular transcripts. 117 genes and 109 genes were upregulated or downregulated, respectively, by all three viruses (KOS, n199, and d109) compared to mock (Fig. 11A). These changes may be due to cellular responses to viral DNA and tegument proteins. Pathways that are activated in cells infected with all three viruses compared to mock infected include IL-6 Signaling, IL-1 signaling and NF κ B signaling, although most of these are activated to a greater degree in both d109 and n199 infected cells than in KOS infected cells. These pathways are considered to be antiviral and demonstrate a host response to HSV-1 infection being activated and then reduced due to the actions of IE proteins including ICP22. Additionally, the majority of immune response pathways affected were repressed in KOS infected cells even at early times in infection, including both Interferon Signaling and Activation of IRF by Cytosolic Pattern Recognition (Fig. 11B).

One pathway that was activated more in KOS infected cells compared to d109 or n199 infected cells is EIF2 signaling (Fig. 11B). Although many cellular processes are not required to complete the viral life cycle or would possibly hinder the viral lifecycle, the virus may be specifically activating the EIF2 pathway in order to encourage rapid synthesis of viral proteins.

By 6 hpi a similar number of genes were upregulated by KOS and n199, as at 2 hpi, but many more are upregulated in cells infected with d109. Many thousands of genes were downregulated by KOS, of which over half of were also downregulated by n199 (Fig. 12A). Even pathways previously activated at 2 hpi, such as IL-6, IL-1 and NF- κ B, were highly repressed in cells infected with KOS or n199, although they remained at least somewhat activated in d109 (Fig. 12B). Alternatively, almost all genes downregulated by n199 were also downregulated by KOS (Fig. 12A). The downregulation of the shared genes is most likely due to features that wild type and ICP22 mutant viruses share such as viral genome replication, ICP0, and ICP4 expression.



Β.

Immune Response Pathways

Cellular Signaling Pathways



Activation z-score

Figure 12. Differences in pathway regulation due to HSV-1 infection at 6 hours post infection. MRC5 cells were infected at an MOI of 5 with wild type (KOS) virus, ICP22 mutant virus (n199), IE mutant virus (d109), or TBS (Mock). RNA was harvested at 6 hpi. RNA-seq analysis, followed by differential expression analysis, was performed as described in the methods. EdgeR was used to calculate the logFC of reads mapped to genes in virus (KOS, n199, or d109) infected cells compared to mock infected. Data is based on 3 replicates. (A) Venn Diagrams of cellular genes significantly differentially expressed (p < 0.05) logFC of 1 or more (Upregulated) compared to mock and logFC of -1 fold or less (Downregulated) in cells infected with KOS, n199, or d109. (B) Ingenuity Pathway Core Analysis was performed on all 3 conditions: infection with KOS, n199, or d109. Cellular genes significantly differentially expressed (p < 0.05) were analyzed based on their logFC compared to Mock and p-value from DE analysis on 3 replicates in order to determine canonical pathways affected in each condition. Comparison analysis between the core analyses demonstrated differences in the degree of activation of different pathways

between the conditions and are represented by differences in z-score in the heat maps. Selected pathways involved in the immune response and cellular signaling that significantly differed among conditions are clustered and shown in the heat map.

The immune response pathways significantly altered by infection all follow a similar pattern at 6 hpi, being activated during infection with d109, and being repressed during infection with either n199 or KOS (Fig. 12B). These pathways include Interferon Signaling, Chemokine Signaling, Role of RIG1-like Receptors in Antiviral Innate Immunity, and B Cell Receptor Signaling (Fig. 12B).

Interestingly, by 6 hpi, PTEN signaling was activated in cells infected with either KOS or n199, in contrast to cells infected with d109 (Fig. 12B). PTEN is a phosphatase that plays an important role in the cell cycle. Activation of the PTEN signaling pathway by KOS and n199 may indicate an advantageous perturbation of the cell cycle that occurs during infection to benefit viral production.

Other cellular signaling pathways are activated in a similar pattern to immune pathways, indicating that IE proteins and/or their effects on the cell are required to shut down the host cell's innate response to HSV infection (Fig. 12B). Furthermore, many diverse pathways are repressed by KOS by 6hpi, suggesting that the downregulation of cellular transcripts is not specific to an antiviral response, but instead that repression of varied pathways indicates a general mechanism of downregulation of cellular transcription rather than a targeting of a specific cellular response.

Defining the Mechanism of Cellular Transcript Reduction

In order to address the mechanism by which ICP22 contributes to a downregulation of cellular transcripts, we investigated its effects on the distribution of RNA pol II on both cellular and viral genomes. RNA pol II has been shown to be depleted from cellular genes during infection with

HSV-1 (187, 188) and is known to be massively relocated to viral replication compartments (181, 195).

MRC-5 cells were infected with KOS, n199, or mock at an MOI of 10 and cross-linked at 6 hpi. In order to immunoprecipitate DNA cross-linked to RNA pol II, we used the antibodies 4H8 and 8WG16. Multiple antibodies were used due to the role of C-terminal domain (CTD) modifications of RNA pol II during transcription and during HSV-1 infection. RNA pol II with a hypophosphorylated CTD is typically recruited to gene promoters and serine-5 phosphorylated to initiate transcription. Next the serine-2 is phosphorylated, normally by cdk9, and elongation proceeds with RNA pol II with CTD phosphorylated serine-5 and serine-2 (259). During infection with wild-type HSV-1, the serine-2P/serine-5P RNA pol II decreases and serine-5P RNA pol II becomes more prominent. During infection with n199 the serine-2/serine-5 phosphorylated RNA pol II decreases, but the serine-5 phosphorylated form does not accumulate(185, 195, 231, 232). We wanted to determine whether this shift in phosphorylation state plays a role in the switch from cellular transcription to viral transcription upon infection. The 4H8 antibody will detect the CTD of RNA pol II when serine-5 is phosphorylated, whether alone or with ser-2 also phosphorylated. It can also detect hypophosphorylated RNA pol II. 8WG16 detects hypophosphorylated RNA pol II and also the CTD of RNA pol II when serine-5 is phosphorylated, but will not detect RNA pol II when the serine-2 of the CTD is phosphorylated as this will block the epitope of the antibody (236, 259). We used these antibodies in parallel in order to differentiate between the ser-5P/ser-2P and the ser-5P RNA pol II. We hypothesized that while viral genes can be efficiently transcribed by ser-5P RNA pol II, due in part to the actions of ICP22, cellular gene transcription is hindered by the loss of ser-

5P/ser-2P RNA pol II during HSV-1 infection due to a reliance on this form of RNA-pol II to transcribe cellular genes.



Figure 13. RNA polymerase II occupancy on cellular and viral genes during HSV-1 infection, 6 hpi. MRC5 cells were infected at an MOI of 10 with wild type (KOS) virus, ICP22 mutant virus (n199), or TBS (Mock). Infected cells were harvested at 6 hpi and processed for ChIP-seq as described in Materials and Methods. Two antibodies were used to immunoprecipitate RNA pol II: 4H8 and 8WG16. (A) Percent of total reads that map to either the cellular or viral genome in each condition. Data represents 3-4 biological replicates with standard deviation. (B) Gene Body Coverage Analysis on gene sets (Cellular and Viral). Represents the average distribution of RNA pol II across the entire gene. Wigsum represents coverage. Data is based on an average of 3 replicates.

As expected based on previous studies (187, 188), we observed an overall increase of RNA pol II on viral genes, complemented by a decrease on cellular genes (Fig. 13A). Consistent

with differences in overall gene expression (Fig. 10A), more RNA pol II was found to be associated with cellular genes, and less with viral genes, in cells infected with n199 compared to KOS infected cells. Overall the differences observed were similar between the two antibodies used, indicating that the relative distribution of RNA pol II between cellular and viral genes during infection is not altered by the phosphorylation state (Fig. 13A).

We have previously determined that at 6 hpi during infection with an ICP22 mutant (n199), RNA pol II accumulated on the start site of viral genes and decreased on gene bodies compared to during infection with WT (KOS), indicative of an elongation defect (258). In order to determine the average distribution of RNA pol II across cellular and viral genes from 5' to 3' we used the galaxy tool "gene body coverage" to calculate the average read coverage across the length of the genes in a set. Using a set of viral genes revealed a pattern on viral genes that was expected based on previous work. We observed less RNA pol II on gene bodies in cells infected with n199 as opposed to KOS, especially when viewed relative to accumulation on start sites, illustrating an elongation defect (Fig. 13B). This pattern is consistent between antibodies, although with 8WG16 we observed more accumulation at viral gene start sites in n199 infected cells compared to on viral genes than in KOS infected cells (Fig. 13B). The rise at the 3' end observed for the viral gene set is most likely due to the small distances between viral genes, making 3'ends close to the 5' of adjacent genes.

Compared to mock infected cells, cells infected with either KOS or n199 had less RNA pol II on both the start of genes and the gene body. The decrease at the start of cellular genes is more severe during infection with KOS compared to n199 (Fig. 13B). Interestingly, in both mock and n199 infected cells there is more RNA pol II detected toward start sites by 8WG16 compared to 4H8 and less on gene bodies by 8WG16 compared to 4H8. This indicates that ser-

2P/ser-5P RNA pol II may be more actively transcribing cellular genes during these conditions, coinciding with more cellular transcripts detected during these conditions (Figure 10).



Figure 14. Kinase inhibitor DRB alters phosphorylation of RNA pol II. MRC5 cells were infected at an MOI of 10 with wild type (KOS) virus, ICP22 mutant virus (n199), or TBS (Mock). At 4 hpi DRB was added to indicated samples at a final concentration of 50 μ M. MG132 was also added to samples at 4 hpi when indicated. (A) Protein lysates were harvested at 6 hpi, run on a 4-15% SDS-PAGE gel and probed with the antibodies 8WG16 and H5. (B) RNA was harvested at 6 hpi and RT-PCR was performed to detect relative levels of UL44 transcripts. Data represents 2 biological replicates with standard deviation.

In order to further understand the role of RNA pol II CTD phosphorylation in HSV-1 transcription, we added the kinase inhibitor 5,6-dichloro-1- β -D-ribofuranosylbenzimidazole (DRB) to infected cells at 4 hpi and harvested both protein and RNA at 6 hpi. We used two RNA Pol II antibodies to detect changes in RNA pol II phosphorylation. The antibody 8WG16 detects hypophosphorylated RNA pol II and RNA pol II with ser-5 phosphorylation. Hypophosphorylated RNA pol II will travel slightly farther than ser-5P RNA pol II when run on

a gel, differentiating the two forms. The H5 antibody detects ser-2P RNA pol II. In mock infected cells all three forms can be detected (Fig. 14A).

Upon addition of DRB in mock-infected cells, ser-2P RNA pol II was depleted and ser-5P RNA poll II decreased slightly. Infection with wild type (KOS) virus resulted in a depletion of ser-2P to at least the level of ser-2P in DRB treated mock-infected cells. Ser-5P did not decrease during KOS infection. Infection with ICP22 mutant (n199) virus also resulted in a depletion of ser-2P to at least the level of ser-2P in DRB treated mock-infected cells. Ser-5P RNA decreased slightly during n199 infection, compared to mock-infected cells. DRB treatment resulted in a similar reduction in Ser-5 phosphorylated RNA pol II in cells infected with n199 or KOS relative to the level in untreated infected cells (Fig. 14A).

To determine the effect that changes in RNA pol II CTD phosphorylation have on viral transcription, we compared viral transcript levels between the different conditions. We measured transcript levels of UL44, a viral late gene highly transcribed at 6 hpi. The level of transcription in different conditions correlated to the levels of ser-5 phosphorylated RNA pol II. Transcription levels decreased upon addition of DRB during infection with either KOS or n199. Additionally, transcription levels in cells infected with n199 and not treated with DRB were similar to levels in cells infected with DRB (Fig. 14B). Addition of DRB to wild type infection therefore approximates transcription deficiencies observed in ICP22 mutants. This supports our hypothesis that ser-5P RNA pol II transcribes viral genes and that ICP22 is required for it to do so efficiently.

To further understand the dynamics of RNA pol II CTD phosphorylation during infection with KOS and n199, we added the proteasome inhibitor MG132 to some of the samples from 4hpi-6hpi. Addition of MG132 mostly rescued levels of ser-5 phosphorylated RNA pol II, but did not rescue ser-2 phosphorylation in infected cells (Fig. 14A). Most likely this is due to ser-5P RNA pol II being present in cells prior to treatment, indicating that DRB treatment did not remove ser-5 phosphorylation but rather prevented any new phosphorylation. Moreover, the rescue of ser-5P RNA pol II by MG132 in cells infected with n199 and not treated with DRB could indicate that the loss of ser-5P RNA pol II during n199 infection is due to proteasomal degradation of stalled ser-5P RNA pol II on viral gene start sites that cannot proceed due to a lack of elongation factors normally recruited by n199.

Protein Interactions with ICP22 in Infected Cells

In addition to RNA pol II, other cellular proteins such as the FACT complex are relocalized during infection to viral genomes, and FACT coprecipitated with ICP22 indicative of proteinprotein interactions (258). In order to determine the effect of ICP22 on the relocalization or actions of other cellular proteins, and possible other binding partners of ICP22, we immunoprecipitated FLAG-tagged ICP22 from cells infected with a virus expressing ICP22-FLAG at 6 hpi. In order to reduce the possibility that any interactions involved nucleic acid, we treated the samples with Benzonase, a nuclease that digests DNA and RNA, prior to immunoprecipitation. Proteins identified in two independent experiments with greater than 5 spectral counts and at least 4-fold enriched over the negative control were considered to be valid hits. Enrichment relative to the amount of ICP22 detected was calculated after normalizing for the molecular weight of each identified protein (Table 2). As we expected, the FACT complex was highly enriched compared to ICP22. Components of Casein Kinase 2 (CK2) were also detected in both. CK2 has been implicated in ICP22 function previously, with evidence supporting that it may be responsible for the nucleotidylation of ICP22 (179). Furthermore, CK2 has been found in complex with Spt16 and SSRP1. It has been hypothesized that Spt16 and SSRP1 can change the conformation of CK2 to target specific substrates for phosphorylation (261).

Many of the proteins highly enriched in the immunoprecipiatation are involved in cotranscriptional processes. These proteins include an RNA helicase, DDX60, an ATPase chromatin remodeler, SMARCA1, the transcript release factor for RNA polymerase I, PTRF, and multiple components of the spliceosome including PRPF6, PRPF8, USP39, and SNRNP200. The association of ICP22 with these proteins supports our previous conclusions that at 6 hpi ICP22 promotes the efficient elongation of viral transcripts (258). We hypothesize that by recruiting these factors to viral genes, ICP22 can promote more efficient viral transcription and associated processes, contributing to a preservation of an open chromatin structure on viral genes and a lack of freely available proteins needed to sustain cellular transcription.

Although there is no direct evidence that ICP22 can bind to viral DNA, ICP22 can be detected in association with viral genomes isolated using click-chemistry (29, 181, 258). The one viral protein we found to interact with ICP22 was UL9, the HSV-1 origin binding protein. Although UL9 classically binds to the origins of replication and is not required for viral DNA replication after initial synthesis, UL9 continues to bind to viral DNA after the start of DNA replication (29). UL9 binding to viral DNA could play a role in viral transcription through association with ICP22, possibly by allowing ICP22 to indirectly associate with the viral genome.

77

Viral Proteins	Spectral Counts (Rep 1/Rep2)	Enrichment Relative to ICP22 (normalized to MW)
ICP22	60/122	100%
UL9	27/65	24.6%
FACT Complex	Spectral Counts (Rep 1/Rep2)	Enrichment Relative to ICP22 (normalized to MW)
Spt16	73/102	40.20%
SSRP1	42/39	29.60%
Casein Kinase 2	Spectral Counts (Rep 1/Rep2)	Enrichment Relative to ICP22 (normalized to MW)
CSNK2A1	10/38	25%
CSNK2A2	15/28	27.5%
CSNK2B	9/12	23.4%
Spliceosome	Spectral Counts (Rep 1/Rep2)	Enrichment Relative to ICP22 (normalized to MW)
PRPF6	15/37	12.2%
PRPF8	32/99	11.5%
USP39	10/19	11.7%
SNRNP200	23/81	10.1%
Transcription	Spectral Counts (Rep 1/Rep2)	Enrichment Relative to ICP22 (normalized to MW)
PTRF	19/40	35.2%
SMARCA1	5/21	4.9%
RNA Helicase	Spectral Counts (Rep 1/Rep2)	Enrichment Relative to ICP22 (normalized to MW)
DDX60	24/46	4.9%
Signal Sequence Binding	Spectral Counts (Rep 1/Rep2)	Enrichment Relative to ICP22 (normalized to MW)
KPNA3	15/25	18.4%
KPNA4	11/28	16.7%
AP2M1	9/5	9%
DNA Replication	Spectral Counts (Rep 1/Rep2)	Enrichment Relative to ICP22 (normalized to MW)
FAM111A	15/32	17.20%

Table 2. Proteins interacting with ICP22 at 6 hpi. MRC5 cells were infected with wild type KOS or ICP22-FLAG at an MOI of 10. Cells were lysed and harvested at 6 hpi and lysates were treated with benzonase and bound to anti-FLAG beads. Proteins bound to the beads were eluted with 3x FLAG peptide and analyzed by mass spectrometry. Valid hits (included in table) were at least 4-fold enriched over the negative (KOS-infected) control.

3.5 DISCUSSION

During HSV-1 infection, cellular transcription decreases and RNA pol II relocates from cellular genes to viral genes (187, 188, 257). We have previously demonstrated a role for the viral

protein ICP22 in the elongation of viral transcripts through the recruitment of transcription elongation factors to viral DNA (258). In this study, we investigated the role of ICP22 in cellular transcription. We hypothesized that (a) during HSV-1 infection a reduction in cellular transcripts impairs the immune response to infection, (b) ICP22 contributes to the reduction of cellular transcripts, (c) ICP22 recruits elongation factors to viral genomes to subvert blocks to cellular transcription mechanisms, and (d) ICP22 therefore increases efficiency of viral transcription at the direct expense of cellular transcription. Our data support the hypothesis that the actions of ICP22 not only increase viral transcription, but also contribute to the repression of cellular transcription. Furthermore, we present a strategy by which HSV-1 may directly disrupt cellular transcription processes while providing an alternative means of transcription for viral genes.

ICP22 and Cellular Transcripts

Infection with wild type KOS or ICP22 mutant n199 results in the downregulation of a wide variety of cellular genes, most likely due to many viral factors and processes involved in the downregulation of cellular transcription. This includes viral proteins such as VHS and ICP27, which reduce levels of cellular mRNA, and also processes such as viral DNA replication, which can be coupled to viral transcription and are required for the virus to transcribe late genes and flood the cell with viral transcripts. We determined that ICP22 also has a role in downregulating cellular transcription in infected cells. Overall cellular transcription was more reduced in cells infected with wild type KOS virus than in cells infected with ICP22 mutant n199 virus. Pathways affected included those related to the immune response, supporting the observation that the ICP22 mutant virus n199 is less virulent during in vivo infection in mice (184).

RNA pol II Modifications

In contrast to prior studies, we found no evidence to support the interaction of ICP22 and cdk9 (198, 199, 249). There is, however, evidence that cdk9 is associated with viral genomes during infection. In fact, recent work suggests that ICP4 may be required for the recruitment of cdk9 to viral genomes (29). There has been debate as to whether ser-2P by cdk9 is required for efficient viral transcription. Several studies suggest that the inhibition of cdk9 results in a decrease in viral transcription (196, 197). These studies have not all addressed the possibility that cdk9 may also phosphorylate ser-5P in the context of viral infection, or that inhibitors that target cdk9 may have off-target effects on kinases that phosphorylate ser-5P in infected cells. We determined that using the inhibitor DRB can reduce the levels of ser-2P, but can also reduce levels of ser-5P, especially in HSV-1 infected cells. We observed no effect on the already undetectable levels of ser-2P in infected cells treated with DRB. Instead, transcription levels correlated with levels of ser-5P in infected cells, due to treatment with DRB or infection with the ICP22 mutant n199. We therefore propose that viral transcription mainly relies on ser-5P RNA pol II and that doing so allows for the efficient transcription of viral genes at the expense of cellular genes. ICP22 is essential to this strategy as it can recruit transcription elongation factors and RNA processing factors to viral genomes. Interestingly, levels of ser-5P RNA pol II are reduced in the ICP22 mutant virus. This reduction could be due to a direct action of ICP22 or possibly be the result of a lack of efficient elongation leading to stalled ser-5P RNA pol II being degraded (170, 232).

Recruitment to Viral Genomes

ICP22 interacts with many cellular proteins at 6 hpi, many of which have a role in transcription elongation and RNA processing. Some of these, such as CK2 components, the FACT complex,

and SMARCA1, have been found to also associate with viral DNA at 6 hpi (29). CK2 is a kinase that has also been determined to interact with the FACT complex and the viral protein ICP27 (163). CK2 may modify ICP22 and/or ICP27, or be hijacked by the virus to modify other proteins. This would be interesting to explore further.

ICP22 interacted with the splicing factors PRP6, PRP8, USP39, and SNRNP200. Most HSV-1 genes are not spliced, but splicing factors may have other roles in viral transcription. The pre-mRNA processing factors PRP6 and PRP8, found in this study to interact directly with ICP22, are associated with viral DNA throughout infection (181). PRP6, PRP8, USP39, and SNRNP200 play roles in the assembly of the U4/U6.U5 tri-SNP (262). During HSV-1 infection, the assembly of the U4/U6.U5 tri-SNP is inhibited by ICP27 in order to inhibit the splicing of cellular mRNA (164). ICP22 may recruit these proteins so that HSV-1 can repurpose these now available RNA-processing proteins to help process viral mRNAs and that ICP22 may recruit them. Therefore, HSV-1 preventing assembly of the spliceosome may have a dual role in reducing the levels of cellular transcripts while promoting the efficient transcription of viral transcripts.

We have not found evidence to support ICP22 as a DNA binding protein, leaving open the question of how ICP22 itself gets recruited to viral genomes. In this study we found that at 6 hpi ICP22 interacts with UL9, the HSV-1 origin binding protein. Although UL9 is only required for the initiation of viral DNA replication, levels of UL9 do not decrease after the onset of HSV-1 replication and can be found associating with viral genomes at 6 hpi (84, 263–265). Functions for UL9 other than initiating viral DNA synthesis have yet to be determined. We hypothesize that UL9 may remain bound to viral DNA in order to recruit ICP22 and possibly other proteins directly to viral DNA to enhance viral DNA transcription after viral DNA replication.

3.6 MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cells and Viruses

Experiments were performed using MRC5 (human fetal lung) or Vero (African green monkey kidney) cells obtained from and propagated as recommended by ATCC. The viruses used in this study include HSV-1 wild type KOS and mutants made with the KOS background. The mutant viruses used include d109, n12, n199, and 5dl1.2. A virus in which a FLAG tag has been inserted after the start codon of US1, ICP22-FLAG was also used.

Co-immunoprecipitation and Mass Spectrometry

MRC5 cells were grown to confluence in a 150 mm plate. Cells were infected with ICP22-FLAG or KOS (control) at an MOI of 10 in tris-buffered saline (TBS) for 1 hour before removing inoculum and rinsing with TBS. Cells were then incubated at 37°C in DMEM containing 2% FBS for 6h. After incubation, cells were rinsed with ice-cold TBS plus 0.1 mM Tosyl-L-lysyl-chloromethane hydrochloride (TLCK). Cells were then lysed at 4°C for 30 min in 1.5 mL lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCL [pH 7.4], 420mM NaCl, 2mM MgCl₂1% Triton x 100, 1mM EDTA, 1X Roche protease inhibitor cocktail, 1X Roche PhosSTOP). Lysates were then centrifuged at 1.8x10³g for 10 min at 4°C and supernatants filtered through a 100µm cell strainer (Corning). Samples were incubated in 10 µL Benzonase (Novagen) at this step for 10 minutes. Samples were then combined 1.1:2 with Binding Buffer (50 mM Tris-HCL [pH 7.4], 1% Triton x 100, 1mM EDTA, 1X Roche protease inhibitor cocktail, 1X Roche PhosSTOP) and added to ANTI-FLAG M2 Magnetic Beads (Sigma). Immunoprecipitation was carried out according to the manufacturer's protocol with a few modifications. Briefly, samples were bound to the Anti-Flag beads overnight and following a series of washes with Tris-buffered saline (50 mM Tris HCl [pH

7.4], 150 mM NaCl, 1X Roche protease inhibitor cocktail, 1X Roche PhosSTOP). Bound proteins were eluted using the recommended concentration of 3X FLAG Peptide (Sigma). Eluted protein was sent to MSbioworks, LLC, Ann Arbor, Michigan for Mass Spectrometry. Proteins 4-fold enriched over KOS control and present in both replicates were considered significant.

Inhibitor Assay

MRC5 cells were seeded into 60mm dishes at a density of $2x10^6$ cells per dish, infected with n199 or KOS at a MOI of 10 PFU/cell, and incubated at 37°. Cells were then incubated at 37°C in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) containing 2% fetal bovine serum (FBS) for 4 hours. DRB was added to a final concentration of 50 μ M to cells at 4hpi. Protein and RNA was harvested 6 hpi. To collect protein samples were rinsed with ice-cold TBS plus 0.1 mM tosyl-l-lysyl-chloromethane hydrochloride (TLCK) before being scraped into 2× SDS-PAGE sample buffer. Samples were boiled for 10 min before analysis. RNA was collected using the Ambion RNaqueous-4 PCR kit using the included protocol.

Protein samples were run on a 4-15% precast gel (Bio-Rad), transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride membrane (Amersham), and probed with the following primary antibodies: mouse anti-RNA pol II 8WG16 (abcam, ab817, 1:500) and mouse anti-RNA pol II H5 (BioLegend; 1:500). After incubation with anti-mouse–horseradish peroxidase (Promega), bands were visualized using ECL Prime Western blot detection reagent (Amersham).

Isolated RNA was quantified using an Agilent eukaryotic RNA Nano kit and a 2100 Bioanalyzer. 500ng RNA was reverse transcribed using an Epicentre Kit (RT80125K). Quantitative real-time PCR was carried out as described previously (62). Transcript quantity was determined based on the amplification of HSV-1 gene UL44 using the gCds primers (mike paper). Two biological replicates were performed.

RNA sequencing (RNAseq)

MRC5 cells were seeded into 60mm dishes at a density of $2x10^6$ cells per dish, infected with n199 or KOS at a MOI of 5 PFU/cell, and incubated at 37°. At the appropriate time post infection, RNA was isolated using the Ambion RNaqueous-4PCR kit using the included protocol. Total RNA was quantified using the Agilent RNA 6000 Nano Kit. RNA-Sequencing libraries were generated from 1-2 µg RNA using NEBNext Poly(A) mRNA Magnetic Isolation Module and NEBNext Ultra Directional RNA Library Prep Kit for Illumina (NEB #E7490 and #E7420). Libraries were quantified using the Agilent DNA 7500 Kit, and samples were mixed together at equimolar concentration. Illumina HiSeq 2500 was carried out at the Tufts University Core Facility.

RNA-seq was mapped to the human genome (hg38) using HTseq, after which unmapped reads were extracted and mapped to the HSV-1 genome (KT899744). Differential Expression Analysis was performed using EdgeR, normalizing for sequencing depth instead of the default TMM normalization. IPA core analysis was performed on the log fold change and p-values of significant genes for each sample. Comparison analysis was then performed across time points. Pathways included in the figures were divided into Immune Response Pathways (Cellular Immune Response, Cytokine Signaling, Humoral Immune Response, Pathogen-Influenced Signaling) and Cellular Signaling Pathways (Apoptosis, Cell Cycle Regulation, Cellular Stress and Injury, Intracellular and Second Messenger Signaling, Transcriptional Regulation).

Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Sequencing (ChIPseq)

MRC5 cells were infected with virus at a MOI of 10 PFU/cell, and incubated at 37° for 2.5 or 6 hours, as indicated. ChIP-seq was performed as described previously, with the following modifications. Cell extracts used for immunoprecipitation were prepared from 1.75x10⁷ cells in 150mm tissue culture dishes, or 7x10⁷ cells in 600 cm² square tissue culture dishes and divided into 4 samples after sonication. The number of washes with LiCl wash buffer was increased to 7. Immunoprecipitations were performed using either the antibody 4H8 (abcam, ab5408) or 8WG16 (abcam, ab817). For each sample 10-20 ng DNA was used to create sequencing libraries using the NEBNext Ultra II DNA Library preparation kit (NEB #E7103S). Libraries were quantified using the Agilent DNA 7500 Kit, and samples were mixed together at equimolar concentration. Illumina HiSeq 2500 was carried out at the Tufts University Core Facility.

ChIP-seq was mapped to the human genome (hg38) using HTSeq, after which unmapped reads were extracted and mapped to the HSV-1 genome (KT899744). Data were analyzed using GALAXY. Bam files were converted to bigwigs, normalizing counts based on total reads in the sample and for viral alignments number of viral genomes in addition to total reads in the sample. Gene Body Coverage was performed on the bigwigs to generate the average coverage for each percentile of the length of each gene. In order to calculate gene body coverage for viral genes, a set of selected viral genes that were determined to not overlap the 5' or 3' end of other viral genes (RL2, UL19, UL21, UL25, UL29, UL37, UL38, UL42, UL44, UL47, UL48, UL49, UL54, RS1, US4, US6, UL4, UL18, UL30, UL35, UL36, UL39, UL46, US1, US7). The cellular gene set GRCh38.79 was used to calculate gene body coverage for cellular genes. For each 8WG16 sample the gene body coverage is an average of 3 replicates. For each 4H8 sample the gene body coverage is an average of 4 replicates.

4.0 SUMMARY AND DISCUSSION

4.1 SUMMARY OF THESIS

Transcription in cells infected with HSV-1 is greatly regulated by viral proteins. As viral transcripts accumulate in infected cells, cellular transcripts decrease, indicating that HSV-1 exerts regulatory control over cellular transcription as well as viral transcription. The transcription cascade that characterizes the expression of viral genes is dependent on the two recognized viral transcription activators VP16 and ICP4. There is also evidence that the IE proteins ICP27 and ICP22 are involved in the regulation of viral transcription. Previously, ICP22 was thought to affect late gene transcription, but the mechanism behind this activity was not defined. We undertook an investigation of the role of ICP22 in regulating viral and cellular transcription during HSV-1 infection.

In Chapter 2 we determined that the FACT complex is recruited to viral DNA by ICP22. We affinity purified viral genomes at 6 hours post infection with either wild type virus or an ICP22 mutant virus and determined that the FACT complex members do not associate with viral genomes in the absence of ICP22. Moreover we engineered a virus that expresses a FLAG-tagged ICP22 in order to affinity purify ICP22 and determine that ICP22 interacts with both members of the FACT complex at 3 and 6 hours post infection. We hypothesized that ICP22 and the FACT complex might play a role in viral transcription elongation. We tested our hypothesis

with RNA-seq and ChIP-seq experiments and determined that in the absence of ICP22, transcription of viral genes decreases at 6 hours post infection and that RNA pol II does not proceed down viral gene bodies. We therefore concluded that ICP22 is responsible for recruiting the FACT complex (and other proteins) to viral genomes in order to promote the efficient elongation of viral transcripts.

In Chapter 3 we proposed a model by which HSV-1 represses cellular gene expression and investigated how ICP22 contributes to this strategy. We compared changes to cellular transcription induced by infection with either wild type virus or ICP22 mutant virus and concluded that infection with the ICP22 mutant virus resulted in both the repression of fewer cellular genes and repressed cellular genes to a lesser extent. Furthermore, ChIP-seq experiments revealed that RNA pol II occupancy is greater on cellular genes infected with the ICP22 mutant compared to wild type. By repeating the affinity purification of ICP22-FLAG presented in Chapter 2 and analyzing proteins purified by mass spectrometry, we confirmed that ICP22 interacts with the FACT complex. We also discovered new interactions. We determined that ICP22 interacts with the viral protein UL9 and may be recruited to viral DNA through this interaction. Finally, we observed a correlation between the rate of viral gene transcription and the amount of Ser-5P present in infected cells. We therefore propose that ICP22 contributes to the repression of cellular transcription during HSV-1 infection by recruiting cellular factors to viral genomes. Specifically, ICP22 aids in robust viral transcription with Ser-5P RNA pol II by recruiting cellular transcription elongation factors to viral genomes, allowing the virus to alter RNA pol II modifications in a way that is unfavorable to cellular transcription.

Taken together, our studies present a role for ICP22 in transcription regulation in cells infected with HSV-1. Further implications of this research are discussed below.

4.2 GENERAL DISCUSSION

Why is viral DNA preferentially transcribed?

Viral and Cellular genes are both transcribed by RNA pol II, yet during HSV-1 infection RNA pol II is mostly associated with viral genes and viral transcription exceeds cellular transcription (Chapter 3). This raises the question of how HSV-1 represses cellular gene expression while still maintaining robust viral transcription. We propose a model in which ICP22 plays a key role in sustaining viral transcription at the expense of cellular transcription:

- 1. Viral DNA enters the nucleus and is detected by the cell, leading to an initial repression of the viral genome and recognition by IFI16.
- VP16 and ICP0 remove chromatin and other repressive cellular factors from viral DNA to allow for recognition by ICP4.
- 3. ICP4 binds to exposed viral DNA and multimerizes, ensuring ICP4 binds strongly to viral, rather than cellular, DNA.
- 4. ICP4 recruits initiation factors to viral DNA, promoting robust viral transcription initiation and sequestering these factors away from cellular genes.
- 5. Viral DNA replication begins and also promotes viral transcription by providing more templates and keeping viral DNA accessible to transcription factors through the removal of histones from replicating DNA. This is supported by the observed coupling of viral replication and transcription (85). We propose that UL9 binds to ssDNA near replication

forks and recruits ICP22 and associated elongation factors to these sites of active viral DNA replication and transcription.

- 6. Infection also leads to a loss of Ser-2P RNA pol II and an accumulation of Ser-5P RNA pol II. The loss of Ser-2P RNA pol II is independent of ICP22, and may be due to the direct or indirect actions of HSV-1, leading to a lack of proper elongation and termination of cellular transcripts. ICP22 is able to recruit transcription elongation and RNA processing factors to Ser-5P RNA pol II, and recruits them to viral DNA rather than cellular DNA due to its binding to viral DNA via UL9. Furthermore, Ser-5P RNA pol II is already massively relocated to viral DNA due to the actions of ICP4 and active viral DNA replication. ICP22 therefore promotes efficient elongation of viral transcripts, ensuring robust viral gene transcription.
- 7. The cycle of robust viral transcription and repressed cellular transcription is selfperpetuating because without proper transcription the cell is unable to mount an immune response to the virus that could repress further viral transcription.
- 8. Other factors also contribute to the reduction of the amount of cellular mRNA that gets translated:
 - a. VHS-mediated degradation of mRNA
 - b. ICP27 inhibition of splicing

Impact of RNA pol II Modification

Our studies support the conclusion that RNA pol II with ser-2P is degraded, or that ser-2P is inhibited, during infection with HSV-1 (195). Moreover, we suggest that ser-5P RNA pol II is all that is required to transcribe viral genes as ICP22 can recruit the factors that would normally

only dock on ser-2P RNA pol II. This conclusion is supported by recent data suggesting that ICP4 is required for the recruitment of cdk9 to viral genomes, but not for the recruitment of factors that normally associate with ser-2P such as elongation and RNA processing factors (29, 266).

Why, then, is cdk9 present if ser-2P is unnecessary or even detrimental to viral infection? One hypothesis is that cdk9 phosphorylates ser-5 rather than ser-2 in infected cells. This hypothesis would explain why it is recruited to viral genomes by ICP4, which is responsible for the promotion of transcription initiation and also recruits TFIIH to viral genomes. Cdk9 has been found to be required for the Tat-Activated elongation of Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) viral transcripts (267). Interestingly, during HIV infection cdk9 may associate with the initiation complex and, along with TFIIH subunit cdk7, phosphorylate ser-5 rather than ser-2 (268).

We propose that the lack of ser-2P during infection is beneficial to productive viral infection by preventing elongation and termination factors from being available for cellular transcription. Recent work has suggested that the termination of cellular mRNA is aberrant in infected cells, which would support a lack of ser-2P RNA pol II (260). While we suggest that ICP22 can recruit elongation factors and RNA processing factors to viral DNA in the absence of ser-2 phosphorylation, we do not have evidence that ICP22 recruits termination factors. ICP27 may possibly be required for recruiting these factors in the absence of ser-2P RNA pol II and this could be further investigated.

A Role for UL9 Late in Infection

UL9 is the HSV-1 origin binding protein and has been studied for its role in viral DNA replication. We hypothesize that UL9 plays a role in allowing ICP22 to bind to viral DNA.

Although UL9 is not required for continued viral DNA synthesis past the onset of replication, UL9 remains associated with viral DNA (29, 84, 85, 265). Furthermore, we found that ICP22 interacts with UL9 at 6 hours post infection (Chapter 3). In order to determine what role UL9 plays at later times during infection, a virus could be engineered that expresses an affinity-tagged UL9. We could then use ChIP-seq to determine how UL9 is associated with viral DNA during infection, if it binds to promoters, gene bodies, or to specific genes. We could also immunoprecipitate the tagged UL9 and identify the proteins that interact with it during infection.

Temperature-sensitive mutants could be employed to determine which factors rely on UL9 to bind to viral DNA. UL9 binds ICP8 to promote viral DNA synthesis and may play a similar role in promoting viral gene transcription by binding to ICP22 and other factors (269, 270). Since UL9 may bind to ssDNA, it is plausible that UL9 is highly attracted to viral DNA that is being replicated and transcribed, and can therefore recruit transcription regulators like ICP22 to where they are most needed (271, 272). Using a temperature sensitive mutant at permissive vs nonpermissive temperatures and affinity-purifying viral DNA, as was done in Chapter 2, could reveal which proteins require UL9 in order to associate with DNA. Coupled with ChIP-seq and co-immunoprecipitation experiments, this study could help determine the role of UL9 later in infection.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Philip E. Pellet, Bernard Roizman. 2013. HerpesviridaeFields Virology6th Ed. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Huff JL, Barry PA. 2003. B-virus (Cercopithecine herpesvirus 1) infection in humans and macaques: potential for zoonotic disease. Emerging Infect Dis 9:246–250.
- Wald A, Ashley-Morrow R. 2002. Serological Testing for Herpes Simplex Virus (HSV)–1 and HSV-2 Infection. Clinical Infectious Diseases 35:S173–S182.
- McQuillan G, Kruszon-Moran D, Flagg EW, Paulose-Ram R. 2018. Prevalence of Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 and Type 2 in Persons Aged 14-49: United States, 2015-2016. NCHS Data Brief 1–8.
- Arduino PG, Porter SR. 2008. Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 infection: overview on relevant clinico-pathological features*. Journal of Oral Pathology & Medicine 37:107– 121.
- 6. Whitley RJ, Roizman B. 2001. Herpes simplex virus infections. Lancet 357:1513.

- Patton ME, Bernstein K, Liu G, Zaidi A, Markowitz LE. 2018. Seroprevalence of herpes simplex virus types 1 and 2 among pregnant women and sexually active, non-pregnant women in the United States. Clin Infect Dis.
- 8. Piret J, Boivin G. 2014. Antiviral drug resistance in herpesviruses other than cytomegalovirus. Rev Med Virol 24:186–218.
- Piret J, Boivin G. 2011. Resistance of Herpes Simplex Viruses to Nucleoside Analogues: Mechanisms, Prevalence, and Management. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 55:459–472.
- 10. Lachmann R. 2004. Herpes simplex virus-based vectors. Int J Exp Pathol 85:177–190.
- Andreansky SS, He B, Gillespie GY, Soroceanu L, Markert J, Chou J, Roizman B, Whitley RJ. 1996. The application of genetically engineered herpes simplex viruses to the treatment of experimental brain tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93:11313–11318.
- Foreman PM, Friedman GK, Cassady KA, Markert JM. 2017. Oncolytic Virotherapy for the Treatment of Malignant Glioma. Neurotherapeutics 14:333–344.
- Goins WF, Hall B, Cohen JB, Glorioso JC. 2016. Retargeting of herpes simplex virus (HSV) vectors. Current Opinion in Virology 21:93–101.
- Roizman B, Knipe DM, Whitley RJ. 2013. Herpes Simplex Viruses and Their ReplicationFields Virology6th Ed. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Gibson W, Roizman B. 1971. Compartmentalization of spermine and spermidine in the herpes simplex virion. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 68:2818–2821.

- Schrag JD, Prasad BVV, Rixon FJ, Chiu W. 1989. Three-dimensional structure of the HSV1 nucleocapsid. Cell 56:651–660.
- Zhou ZH. 2000. Seeing the Herpesvirus Capsid at 8.5 Å Science 288:877–880.
- Grünewald K, Desai P, Winkler DC, Heymann JB, Belnap DM, Baumeister W, Steven AC. 2003. Three-Dimensional Structure of Herpes Simplex Virus from Cryo-Electron Tomography. Science 302:1396–1398.
- 19. Kieff ED, Bachenheimer SL, Roizman B. 1971. Size, composition, and structure of the deoxyribonucleic acid of herpes simplex virus subtypes 1 and 2. J Virol 8:125–132.
- McGeoch DJ, Dalrymple MA, Davison AJ, Dolan A, Frame MC, McNab D, Perry LJ, Scott JE, Taylor P. 1988. The complete DNA sequence of the long unique region in the genome of herpes simplex virus type 1. J Gen Virol 69 (Pt 7):1531–1574.
- McGeoch DJ, Dolan A, Donald S, Rixon FJ. 1985. Sequence determination and genetic content of the short unique region in the genome of herpes simplex virus type 1. J Mol Biol 181:1–13.
- Perry LJ, McGeoch DJ. 1988. The DNA sequences of the long repeat region and adjoining parts of the long unique region in the genome of herpes simplex virus type 1. J Gen Virol 69 (Pt 11):2831–2846.

- McGeoch DJ, Dolan A, Donald S, Brauer DHK. 1986. Complete DNA sequence of the short repeat region in the genome of herpes simplex virus type 1. Nucleic Acids Research 14:1727–1745.
- 24. Hayward GS, Jacob RJ, Wadsworth SC, Roizman B. 1975. Anatomy of herpes simplex virus DNA: evidence for four populations of molecules that differ in the relative orientations of their long and short components. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 72:4243–4247.
- Stow ND. 1985. Mutagenesis of a herpes simplex virus origin of DNA replication and its effect on viral interference. J Gen Virol 66 (Pt 1):31–42.
- 26. Weller SK, Spadaro A, Schaffer JE, Murray AW, Maxam AM, Schaffer PA. 1985. Cloning, sequencing, and functional analysis of oriL, a herpes simplex virus type 1 origin of DNA synthesis. Mol Cell Biol 5:930–942.
- Igarashi K, Fawl R, Roller RJ, Roizman B. 1993. Construction and properties of a recombinant herpes simplex virus 1 lacking both S-component origins of DNA synthesis. J Virol 67:2123–2132.
- Balliet JW, Schaffer PA. 2006. Point Mutations in Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 oriL, but Not in oriS, Reduce Pathogenesis during Acute Infection of Mice and Impair Reactivation from Latency. Journal of Virology 80:440–450.
- Dembowski JA, DeLuca NA. 2018. Temporal Viral Genome-Protein Interactions Define Distinct Stages of Productive Herpesviral Infection. mBio 9.

- Wittels M, Spear PG. 1991. Penetration of cells by herpes simplex virus does not require a low pH-dependent endocytic pathway. Virus Res 18:271–290.
- Nicola AV, Straus SE. 2004. Cellular and viral requirements for rapid endocytic entry of herpes simplex virus. J Virol 78:7508–7517.
- Heldwein EE, Krummenacher C. 2008. Entry of herpesviruses into mammalian cells. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences 65:1653–1668.
- 33. Ojala PM, Sodeik B, Ebersold MW, Kutay U, Helenius A. 2000. Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Entry into Host Cells: Reconstitution of Capsid Binding and Uncoating at the Nuclear Pore Complex In Vitro. Mol Cell Biol 20:4922–4931.
- Hyman RW, Oakes JE, Kudler L. 1977. In vitro repair of the preexisting nicks and gaps in herpes simplex virus DNA. Virology 76:286–294.
- 35. Smith S, Reuven N, Mohni KN, Schumacher AJ, Weller SK. 2014. Structure of the Herpes Simplex Virus 1 Genome: Manipulation of Nicks and Gaps Can Abrogate Infectivity and Alter the Cellular DNA Damage Response. J Virol 88:10146–10156.
- 36. Lilley CE, Chaurushiya MS, Boutell C, Everett RD, Weitzman MD. 2011. The Intrinsic Antiviral Defense to Incoming HSV-1 Genomes Includes Specific DNA Repair Proteins and Is Counteracted by the Viral Protein ICP0. PLoS Pathog 7:e1002084.
- Maul GG. 1998. Nuclear domain 10, the site of DNA virus transcription and replication. Bioessays 20:660–667.
- Everett RD. 2001. DNA viruses and viral proteins that interact with PML nuclear bodies.
 Oncogene 20:7266–7273.
- Everett RD, Rechter S, Papior P, Tavalai N, Stamminger T, Orr A. 2006. PML Contributes to a Cellular Mechanism of Repression of Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Infection That Is Inactivated by ICP0. J Virol 80:7995–8005.
- 40. Boutell C, Orr A, Everett RD. 2003. PML residue lysine 160 is required for the degradation of PML induced by herpes simplex virus type 1 regulatory protein ICP0. J Virol 77:8686–8694.
- 41. Everett RD, Parada C, Gripon P, Sirma H, Orr A. 2008. Replication of ICP0-null mutant herpes simplex virus type 1 is restricted by both PML and Sp100. J Virol 82:2661–2672.
- Kutluay SB, Triezenberg SJ. 2009. Regulation of Histone Deposition on the Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Genome during Lytic Infection. J Virol 83:5835–5845.
- Cliffe AR, Knipe DM. 2008. Herpes Simplex Virus ICP0 Promotes both Histone Removal and Acetylation on Viral DNA during Lytic Infection. J Virol 82:12030–12038.
- Luger K, M\u00e4der AW, Richmond RK, Sargent DF, Richmond TJ. 1997. Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 \u00e5 resolution. Nature 389:251–260.
- Lacasse JJ, Schang LM. 2010. During Lytic Infections, Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 DNA Is in Complexes with the Properties of Unstable Nucleosomes. J Virol 84:1920– 1933.

- 46. Kent JR, Zeng P-Y, Atanasiu D, Gardner J, Fraser NW, Berger SL. 2004. During Lytic Infection Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Is Associated with Histones Bearing Modifications That Correlate with Active Transcription. J Virol 78:10178–10186.
- 47. Lacasse JJ, Schang LM. 2012. Herpes Simplex Virus 1 DNA Is in Unstable Nucleosomes throughout the Lytic Infection Cycle, and the Instability of the Nucleosomes Is Independent of DNA Replication. J Virol 86:11287–11300.
- 48. Kristie TM. 2015. Dynamic modulation of HSV chromatin drives initiation of infection and provides targets for epigenetic therapies. Virology 479–480:555–561.
- Knipe DM, Lieberman PM, Jung JU, McBride AA, Morris KV, Ott M, Margolis D, Nieto A, Nevels M, Parks RJ, Kristie TM. 2013. Snapshots: Chromatin control of viral infection. Virology 435:141–156.
- Memedula S, Belmont AS. 2003. Sequential Recruitment of HAT and SWI/SNF Components to Condensed Chromatin by VP16. Current Biology 13:241–246.
- Herrera FJ, Triezenberg SJ. 2004. VP16-Dependent Association of Chromatin-Modifying Coactivators and Underrepresentation of Histones at Immediate-Early Gene Promoters during Herpes Simplex Virus Infection. J Virol 78:9689–9696.
- 52. Leeuwen H van, Okuwaki M, Hong R, Chakravarti D, Nagata K, O'Hare P. 2003. Herpes simplex virus type 1 tegument protein VP22 interacts with TAF-I proteins and inhibits nucleosome assembly but not regulation of histone acetylation by INHAT. J Gen Virol 84:2501–2510.

- 53. Samaniego LA, Neiderhiser L, DeLuca NA. 1998. Persistence and Expression of the Herpes Simplex Virus Genome in the Absence of Immediate-Early Proteins. J Virol 72:3307–3320.
- Ferenczy MW, DeLuca NA. 2009. Epigenetic Modulation of Gene Expression from Quiescent Herpes Simplex Virus Genomes. J Virol 83:8514–8524.
- 55. Gu H, Roizman B. 2007. Herpes simplex virus-infected cell protein 0 blocks the silencing of viral DNA by dissociating histone deacetylases from the CoREST-REST complex. PNAS 104:17134–17139.
- 56. Lomonte P, Thomas J, Texier P, Caron C, Khochbin S, Epstein AL. 2004. Functional Interaction between Class II Histone Deacetylases and ICP0 of Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1. J Virol 78:6744–6757.
- Carrozza MJ, DeLuca N. 1998. The High Mobility Group Protein 1 Is a Coactivator of Herpes Simplex Virus ICP4 In Vitro. J Virol 72:6752–6757.
- Wagner LM, DeLuca NA. 2013. Temporal Association of Herpes Simplex Virus ICP4 with Cellular Complexes Functioning at Multiple Steps in PolII Transcription. PLoS ONE 8:e78242.
- 59. Costanzo F, Campadelli-Fiume G, Foa-Tomasi L, Cassai E. 1977. Evidence that herpes simplex virus DNA is transcribed by cellular RNA polymerase B. J Virol 21:996–1001.
- 60. Heine JW, Honess RW, Cassai E, Roizman B. 1974. Proteins specified by herpes simplex virus. XII. The virion polypeptides of type 1 strains. J Virol 14:640–651.

- Honess RW, Roizman B. 1974. Regulation of Herpesvirus Macromolecular Synthesis I.
 Cascade Regulation of the Synthesis of Three Groups of Viral Proteins. J Virol 14:8–19.
- Harkness JM, Kader M, DeLuca NA. 2014. Transcription of the Herpes Simplex Virus 1 Genome during Productive and Quiescent Infection of Neuronal and Nonneuronal Cells. J Virol 88:6847–6861.
- 63. Goding CR, O'Hare P. 1989. Herpes simplex virus Vmw65-octamer binding protein interaction: a paradigm for combinatorial control of transcription. Virology 173:363–367.
- 64. Jones KA, Tjian R. 1985. Sp1 binds to promoter sequences and activates herpes simplex virus "immediate-early" gene transcription in vitro. Nature 317:179–182.
- 65. O'Rourke D, O'Hare P. 1993. Mutually exclusive binding of two cellular factors within a critical promoter region of the gene for the IE110k protein of herpes simplex virus. J Virol 67:7201–7214.
- 66. Kobayashi N, Boyer TG, Berk AJ. 1995. A class of activation domains interacts directly with TFIIA and stimulates TFIIA-TFIID-promoter complex assembly. Mol Cell Biol 15:6465–6473.
- 67. Lin YS, Ha I, Maldonado E, Reinberg D, Green MR. 1991. Binding of general transcription factor TFIIB to an acidic activating region. Nature 353:569–571.
- Xiao H, Pearson A, Coulombe B, Truant R, Zhang S, Regier JL, Triezenberg SJ, Reinberg D, Flores O, Ingles CJ. 1994. Binding of basal transcription factor TFIIH to the acidic activation domains of VP16 and p53. Mol Cell Biol 14:7013–7024.

- 69. Stringer KF, Ingles CJ, Greenblatt J. 1990. Direct and selective binding of an acidic transcriptional activation domain to the TATA-box factor TFIID. Nature 345:783–786.
- Zhu H, Joliot V, Prywes R. 1994. Role of transcription factor TFIIF in serum response factor-activated transcription. J Biol Chem 269:3489–3497.
- 71. Ito M, Yuan CX, Malik S, Gu W, Fondell JD, Yamamura S, Fu ZY, Zhang X, Qin J, Roeder RG. 1999. Identity between TRAP and SMCC complexes indicates novel pathways for the function of nuclear receptors and diverse mammalian activators. Mol Cell 3:361–370.
- 72. Mittler G, Stühler T, Santolin L, Uhlmann T, Kremmer E, Lottspeich F, Berti L, Meisterernst M. 2003. A novel docking site on Mediator is critical for activation by VP16 in mammalian cells. EMBO J 22:6494–6504.
- 73. DeLuca NA, McCarthy AM, Schaffer PA. 1985. Isolation and characterization of deletion mutants of herpes simplex virus type 1 in the gene encoding immediate-early regulatory protein ICP4. J Virol 56:558–570.
- 74. Godowski PJ, Knipe DM. 1986. Transcriptional control of herpesvirus gene expression: gene functions required for positive and negative regulation. PNAS 83:256–260.
- Pugh BF, Tjian R. 1990. Mechanism of transcriptional activation by Sp1: evidence for coactivators. Cell 61:1187–1197.

- 76. Imbalzano AN, Coen DM, DeLuca NA. 1991. Herpes simplex virus transactivator ICP4 operationally substitutes for the cellular transcription factor Sp1 for efficient expression of the viral thymidine kinase gene. J Virol 65:565–574.
- 77. Jean S, LeVan KM, Song B, Levine M, Knipe DM. 2001. Herpes Simplex Virus 1 ICP27 Is Required for Transcription of Two Viral Late (γ2) Genes in Infected Cells. Virology 283:273–284.
- Poffenberger KL, Raichlen PE, Herman DRC. 1993. In vitro characterization of a herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP22 deletion mutant. Virus Genes 7:171–186.
- Bastian TW, Rice SA. 2009. Identification of sequences in herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP22 that influence RNA polymerase II modification and viral late gene expression. J Virol 83:128–139.
- Walsh D, Mohr I. 2004. Phosphorylation of eIF4E by Mnk-1 enhances HSV-1 translation and replication in quiescent cells. Genes Dev 18:660–672.
- Wu CA, Nelson NJ, McGeoch DJ, Challberg MD. 1988. Identification of herpes simplex virus type 1 genes required for origin-dependent DNA synthesis. J Virol 62:435–443.
- Weller SK, Coen DM. 2012. Herpes Simplex Viruses: Mechanisms of DNA Replication. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 4:a013011.

- 83. Murata LB, Dodson MS. 1999. The Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Origin-binding Protein: SEQUENCE-SPECIFIC ACTIVATION OF ADENOSINE TRIPHOSPHATASE ACTIVITY BY A DOUBLE-STRANDED DNA CONTAINING BOX I. Journal of Biological Chemistry 274:37079–37086.
- 84. Blümel J, Matz B. 1995. Thermosensitive UL9 gene function is required for early stages of herpes simplex virus type 1 DNA synthesis. J Gen Virol 76 (Pt 12):3119–3124.
- 85. Dembowski JA, Dremel SE, DeLuca NA. 2017. Replication-Coupled Recruitment of Viral and Cellular Factors to Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Replication Forks for the Maintenance and Expression of Viral Genomes. PLoS Pathog 13:e1006166.
- 86. Aslani A, Olsson M, Elias P. 2002. ATP-dependent unwinding of a minimal origin of DNA replication by the origin-binding protein and the single-strand DNA-binding protein ICP8 from herpes simplex virus type I. J Biol Chem 277:41204–41212.
- Crute JJ, Tsurumi T, Zhu LA, Weller SK, Olivo PD, Challberg MD, Mocarski ES, Lehman IR. 1989. Herpes simplex virus 1 helicase-primase: a complex of three herpesencoded gene products. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 86:2186–2189.
- Hernandez TR, Lehman IR. 1990. Functional interaction between the herpes simplex-1 DNA polymerase and UL42 protein. J Biol Chem 265:11227–11232.
- Gottlieb J, Marcy AI, Coen DM, Challberg MD. 1990. The herpes simplex virus type 1 UL42 gene product: a subunit of DNA polymerase that functions to increase processivity. J Virol 64:5976–5987.

- Wilkinson D, Weller S. 2003. The Role of DNA Recombination in Herpes Simplex Virus DNA Replication. IUBMB Life (International Union of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology: Life) 55:451–458.
- Homa null, Brown null. 1997. Capsid assembly and DNA packaging in herpes simplex virus. Rev Med Virol 7:107–122.
- 92. Gibson W, Roizman B. 1972. Proteins specified by herpes simplex virus. 8. Characterization and composition of multiple capsid forms of subtypes 1 and 2. J Virol 10:1044–1052.
- Perdue ML, Cohen JC, Randall CC, O'Callaghan DJ. 1976. Biochemical studies of the maturation of herpesvirus nucleocapsid species. Virology 74:194–208.
- Newcomb WW, Juhas RM, Thomsen DR, Homa FL, Burch AD, Weller SK, Brown JC.
 2001. The UL6 gene product forms the portal for entry of DNA into the herpes simplex virus capsid. J Virol 75:10923–10932.
- 95. Newcomb WW, Thomsen DR, Homa FL, Brown JC. 2003. Assembly of the herpes simplex virus capsid: identification of soluble scaffold-portal complexes and their role in formation of portal-containing capsids. J Virol 77:9862–9871.
- 96. Sheaffer AK, Newcomb WW, Brown JC, Gao M, Weller SK, Tenney DJ. 2000. Evidence for controlled incorporation of herpes simplex virus type 1 UL26 protease into capsids. J Virol 74:6838–6848.

- 97. Baines JD. 2011. Herpes simplex virus capsid assembly and DNA packaging: a present and future antiviral drug target. Trends Microbiol 19:606–613.
- Johnson DC, Baines JD. 2011. Herpesviruses remodel host membranes for virus egress. Nat Rev Microbiol 9:382–394.
- Roizman B, Sears AE. 1987. An Inquiry into the Mechanisms of Herpes Simplex Virus Latency. Annual Review of Microbiology 41:543–571.
- Efstathiou S, Minson AC, Field HJ, Anderson JR, Wildy P. 1986. Detection of herpes simplex virus-specific DNA sequences in latently infected mice and in humans. J Virol 57:446–455.
- 101. Hafezi W, Lorentzen EU, Eing BR, Müller M, King NJC, Klupp B, Mettenleiter TC, Kühn JE. 2012. Entry of Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 (HSV-1) into the Distal Axons of Trigeminal Neurons Favors the Onset of Nonproductive, Silent Infection. PLoS Pathogens 8:e1002679.
- 102. Aggarwal A, Miranda-Saksena M, Boadle RA, Kelly BJ, Diefenbach RJ, Alam W, Cunningham AL. 2012. Ultrastructural visualization of individual tegument protein dissociation during entry of herpes simplex virus 1 into human and rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. J Virol 86:6123–6137.
- 103. Kristie TM, Vogel JL, Sears AE. 1999. Nuclear localization of the C1 factor (host cell factor) in sensory neurons correlates with reactivation of herpes simplex virus from latency. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96:1229–1233.

- 104. Pan D, Flores O, Umbach JL, Pesola JM, Bentley P, Rosato PC, Leib DA, Cullen BR, Coen DM. 2014. A neuron-specific host microRNA targets herpes simplex virus-1 ICP0 expression and promotes latency. Cell Host Microbe 15:446–456.
- 105. Kubat NJ, Tran RK, McAnany P, Bloom DC. 2004. Specific histone tail modification and not DNA methylation is a determinant of herpes simplex virus type 1 latent gene expression. J Virol 78:1139–1149.
- 106. Kwiatkowski DL, Thompson HW, Bloom DC. 2009. The Polycomb Group Protein Bmi1 Binds to the Herpes Simplex Virus 1 Latent Genome and Maintains Repressive Histone Marks during Latency. Journal of Virology 83:8173–8181.
- 107. Cliffe AR, Garber DA, Knipe DM. 2009. Transcription of the herpes simplex virus latency-associated transcript promotes the formation of facultative heterochromatin on lytic promoters. J Virol 83:8182–8190.
- Spivack JG, Fraser NW. 1987. Detection of herpes simplex virus type 1 transcripts during latent infection in mice. J Virol 61:3841–3847.
- 109. Stevens JG, Wagner EK, Devi-Rao GB, Cook ML, Feldman LT. 1987. RNA complementary to a herpesvirus alpha gene mRNA is prominent in latently infected neurons. Science 235:1056–1059.
- 110. Farrell MJ, Dobson AT, Feldman LT. 1991. Herpes simplex virus latency-associated transcript is a stable intron. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 88:790–794.

- 111. Ferenczy MW, Ranayhossaini DJ, DeLuca NA. 2011. Activities of ICP0 Involved in the Reversal of Silencing of Quiescent Herpes Simplex Virus 1. Journal of Virology 85:4993– 5002.
- 112. Warren SL. 1940. SYMPTOMATIC HERPES, A SEQUELA OF ARTIFICIALLY INDUCED FEVER: INCIDENCE AND CLINICAL ASPECTS; RECOVERY OF A VIRUS FROM HERPETIC VESICLES, AND COMPARISON WITH A KNOWN STRAIN OF HERPES VIRUS. Journal of Experimental Medicine 71:155–168.
- 113. Spruance SL. 1988. Cutaneous herpes simplex virus lesions induced by ultraviolet radiation. A review of model systems and prophylactic therapy with oral acyclovir. Am J Med 85:43–45.
- 114. Messer HGP, Jacobs D, Dhummakupt A, Bloom DC. 2015. Inhibition of H3K27me3-Specific Histone Demethylases JMJD3 and UTX Blocks Reactivation of Herpes Simplex Virus 1 in Trigeminal Ganglion Neurons. Journal of Virology 89:3417–3420.
- 115. Liang Y, Quenelle D, Vogel JL, Mascaro C, Ortega A, Kristie TM. 2013. A Novel Selective LSD1/KDM1A Inhibitor Epigenetically Blocks Herpes Simplex Virus Lytic Replication and Reactivation from Latency. mBio 4.
- 116. Amelio AL, Giordani NV, Kubat NJ, O'neil JE, Bloom DC. 2006. Deacetylation of the herpes simplex virus type 1 latency-associated transcript (LAT) enhancer and a decrease in LAT abundance precede an increase in ICP0 transcriptional permissiveness at early times postexplant. J Virol 80:2063–2068.

- 117. Danaher RJ, Jacob RJ, Steiner MR, Allen WR, Hill JM, Miller CS. 2005. Histone deacetylase inhibitors induce reactivation of herpes simplex virus type 1 in a latencyassociated transcript-independent manner in neuronal cells. J Neurovirol 11:306–317.
- 118. Neumann DM, Bhattacharjee PS, Hill JM. 2007. Sodium butyrate: a chemical inducer of in vivo reactivation of herpes simplex virus type 1 in the ocular mouse model. J Virol 81:6106–6110.
- 119. Wilson AC, Mohr I. 2012. A cultured affair: HSV latency and reactivation in neurons. Trends in Microbiology 20:604–611.
- West JA, Gregory SM, Damania B. 2012. Toll-like receptor sensing of human herpesvirus infection. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2:122.
- 121. Sato A, Linehan MM, Iwasaki A. 2006. Dual recognition of herpes simplex viruses by TLR2 and TLR9 in dendritic cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 103:17343–17348.
- 122. Knipe DM. 2015. Nuclear sensing of viral DNA, epigenetic regulation of herpes simplex virus infection, and innate immunity. Virology 479–480:153–159.
- 123. Mørk N, Kofod-Olsen E, Sørensen KB, Bach E, Ørntoft TF, Østergaard L, Paludan SR, Christiansen M, Mogensen TH. 2015. Mutations in the TLR3 signaling pathway and beyond in adult patients with herpes simplex encephalitis. Genes Immun 16:552–566.

- 124. Zhang S-Y, Jouanguy E, Ugolini S, Smahi A, Elain G, Romero P, Segal D, Sancho-Shimizu V, Lorenzo L, Puel A, Picard C, Chapgier A, Plancoulaine S, Titeux M, Cognet C, von Bernuth H, Ku C-L, Casrouge A, Zhang X-X, Barreiro L, Leonard J, Hamilton C, Lebon P, Héron B, Vallée L, Quintana-Murci L, Hovnanian A, Rozenberg F, Vivier E, Geissmann F, Tardieu M, Abel L, Casanova J-L. 2007. TLR3 deficiency in patients with herpes simplex encephalitis. Science 317:1522–1527.
- 125. Vattem KM, Staschke KA, Wek RC. 2001. Mechanism of activation of the doublestranded-RNA-dependent protein kinase, PKR: Role of dimerization and cellular localization in the stimulation of PKR phosphorylation of eukaryotic initiation factor-2 (eIF2). European Journal of Biochemistry 268:3674–3684.
- 126. Eskildsen S, Justesen J, Schierup MH, Hartmann R. 2003. Characterization of the 2'-5'oligoadenylate synthetase ubiquitin-like family. Nucleic Acids Res 31:3166–3173.
- 127. Silverman RH. 2007. Viral Encounters with 2',5'-Oligoadenylate Synthetase and RNase L during the Interferon Antiviral Response. Journal of Virology 81:12720–12729.
- 128. Orzalli MH, DeLuca NA, Knipe DM. 2012. Nuclear IFI16 induction of IRF-3 signaling during herpesviral infection and degradation of IFI16 by the viral ICP0 protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 109:E3008-3017.
- Orzalli MH, Broekema NM, Diner BA, Hancks DC, Elde NC, Cristea IM, Knipe DM.
 2015. cGAS-mediated stabilization of IFI16 promotes innate signaling during herpes simplex virus infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 112:E1773-1781.

- Ashley R, Benedetti J, Corey L. 1985. Humoral immune response to HSV-1 and HSV-2 viral proteins in patients with primary genital herpes. J Med Virol 17:153–166.
- 131. Brown EL, Gardella C, Malm G, Prober CG, Forsgren M, Krantz EM, Arvin AM, Yasukawa LL, Mohan K, Brown Z, Corey L, Wald A. 2007. Effect of maternal herpes simplex virus (HSV) serostatus and HSV type on risk of neonatal herpes. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 86:523–529.
- Fenwick ML, Walker MJ. 1978. Suppression of the Synthesis of Cellular Macromolecules by Herpes Simplex Virus. J Gen Virol 41:37–51.
- 133. Kwong AD, Frenkel N. 1987. Herpes simplex virus-infected cells contain a function(s) that destabilizes both host and viral mRNAs. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 84:1926–1930.
- Smiley JR. 2004. Herpes Simplex Virus Virion Host Shutoff Protein: Immune Evasion Mediated by a Viral RNase? Journal of Virology 78:1063–1068.
- 135. Pasieka TJ, Lu B, Crosby SD, Wylie KM, Morrison LA, Alexander DE, Menachery VD, Leib DA. 2008. Herpes Simplex Virus Virion Host Shutoff Attenuates Establishment of the Antiviral State. Journal of Virology 82:5527–5535.
- 136. Duerst RJ, Morrison LA. 2004. Herpes simplex virus 2 virion host shutoff protein interferes with type I interferon production and responsiveness. Virology 322:158–167.
- 137. Dauber B, Poon D, Dos Santos T, Duguay BA, Mehta N, Saffran HA, Smiley JR. 2016.The Herpes Simplex Virus Virion Host Shutoff Protein Enhances Translation of Viral

True Late mRNAs Independently of Suppressing Protein Kinase R and Stress Granule Formation. J Virol 90:6049–6057.

- Burgess HM, Mohr I. 2018. Defining the Role of Stress Granules in Innate Immune Suppression by the Herpes Simplex Virus 1 Endoribonuclease VHS. Journal of Virology 92.
- Hardy WR, Sandri-Goldin RM. 1994. Herpes simplex virus inhibits host cell splicing, and regulatory protein ICP27 is required for this effect. J Virol 68:7790–7799.
- 140. Lilley CE, Chaurushiya MS, Boutell C, Landry S, Suh J, Panier S, Everett RD, Stewart GS, Durocher D, Weitzman MD. 2010. A viral E3 ligase targets RNF8 and RNF168 to control histone ubiquitination and DNA damage responses. EMBO J 29:943–955.
- 141. Eidson KM, Hobbs WE, Manning BJ, Carlson P, DeLuca NA. 2002. Expression of herpes simplex virus ICP0 inhibits the induction of interferon-stimulated genes by viral infection. J Virol 76:2180–2191.
- 142. Diner BA, Lum KK, Javitt A, Cristea IM. 2015. Interactions of the Antiviral Factor Interferon Gamma-Inducible Protein 16 (IFI16) Mediate Immune Signaling and Herpes Simplex Virus-1 Immunosuppression. Mol Cell Proteomics 14:2341–2356.
- 143. Zhang J, Zhao J, Xu S, Li J, He S, Zeng Y, Xie L, Xie N, Liu T, Lee K, Seo GJ, Chen L, Stabell AC, Xia Z, Sawyer SL, Jung J, Huang C, Feng P. 2018. Species-Specific Deamidation of cGAS by Herpes Simplex Virus UL37 Protein Facilitates Viral Replication. Cell Host & Microbe 24:234-248.e5.

- 144. Pan S, Liu X, Ma Y, Cao Y, He B. 2018. Herpes Simplex Virus 1 γ 1 34.5 Protein Inhibits STING Activation That Restricts Viral Replication. Journal of Virology 92.
- 145. Sànchez R, Mohr I. 2007. Inhibition of cellular 2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetase by the herpes simplex virus type 1 Us11 protein. J Virol 81:3455–3464.
- 146. Wang S, Wang K, Lin R, Zheng C. 2013. Herpes Simplex Virus 1 Serine/Threonine Kinase US3 Hyperphosphorylates IRF3 and Inhibits Beta Interferon Production. Journal of Virology 87:12814–12827.
- 147. Früh K, Ahn K, Djaballah H, Sempé P, van Endert PM, Tampé R, Peterson PA, Yang Y.
 1995. A viral inhibitor of peptide transporters for antigen presentation. Nature 375:415–418.
- 148. Neumann J, Eis-Hübinger AM, Koch N. 2003. Herpes simplex virus type 1 targets the MHC class II processing pathway for immune evasion. J Immunol 171:3075–3083.
- 149. Temme S, Eis-Hübinger AM, McLellan AD, Koch N. 2010. The herpes simplex virus-1 encoded glycoprotein B diverts HLA-DR into the exosome pathway. J Immunol 184:236– 243.
- 150. Jerome KR, Tait JF, Koelle DM, Corey L. 1998. Herpes simplex virus type 1 renders infected cells resistant to cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-induced apoptosis. J Virol 72:436–441.
- 151. Han J-Y, Sloan DD, Aubert M, Miller SA, Dang CH, Jerome KR. 2007. Apoptosis and antigen receptor function in T and B cells following exposure to herpes simplex virus. Virology 359:253–263.

- 152. Frank I, Friedman HM. 1989. A novel function of the herpes simplex virus type 1 Fc receptor: participation in bipolar bridging of antiviral immunoglobulin G. J Virol 63:4479–4488.
- 153. Friedman HM, Wang L, Fishman NO, Lambris JD, Eisenberg RJ, Cohen GH, Lubinski J.
 1996. Immune evasion properties of herpes simplex virus type 1 glycoprotein gC. J Virol 70:4253–4260.
- 154. DeLuca NA, Schaffer PA. 1988. Physical and functional domains of the herpes simplex virus transcriptional regulatory protein ICP4. J Virol 62:732–743.
- 155. Metzler DW, Wilcox KW. 1985. Isolation of herpes simplex virus regulatory protein ICP4 as a homodimeric complex. J Virol 55:329–337.
- Kuddus RH, DeLuca NA. 2007. DNA-dependent oligomerization of herpes simplex virus type 1 regulatory protein ICP4. J Virol 81:9230–9237.
- 157. Carrozza MJ, DeLuca NA. 1996. Interaction of the viral activator protein ICP4 with TFIID through TAF250. Mol Cell Biol 16:3085–3093.
- 158. Lester JT, DeLuca NA. 2011. Herpes Simplex Virus 1 ICP4 Forms Complexes with TFIID and Mediator in Virus-Infected Cells. J Virol 85:5733–5744.
- 159. Grondin B, DeLuca N. 2000. Herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP4 promotes transcription preinitiation complex formation by enhancing the binding of TFIID to DNA. J Virol 74:11504–11510.

- 160. Zabierowski SE, Deluca NA. 2008. Stabilized binding of TBP to the TATA box of herpes simplex virus type 1 early (tk) and late (gC) promoters by TFIIA and ICP4. J Virol 82:3546–3554.
- 161. Sampath P, DeLuca NA. 2008. Binding of ICP4, TATA-Binding Protein, and RNA Polymerase II to Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Immediate-Early, Early, and Late Promoters in Virus-Infected Cells. J Virol 82:2339–2349.
- 162. Gu B, Kuddus R, DeLuca NA. 1995. Repression of activator-mediated transcription by herpes simplex virus ICP4 via a mechanism involving interactions with the basal transcription factors TATA-binding protein and TFIIB. Mol Cell Biol 15:3618–3626.
- 163. Bryant HE, Wadd SE, Lamond AI, Silverstein SJ, Clements JB. 2001. Herpes simplex virus IE63 (ICP27) protein interacts with spliceosome-associated protein 145 and inhibits splicing prior to the first catalytic step. J Virol 75:4376–4385.
- 164. Sciabica KS, Dai QJ, Sandri-Goldin RM. 2003. ICP27 interacts with SRPK1 to mediate HSV splicing inhibition by altering SR protein phosphorylation. EMBO J 22:1608–1619.
- 165. Zhong X-Y, Ding J-H, Adams JA, Ghosh G, Fu X-D. 2009. Regulation of SR protein phosphorylation and alternative splicing by modulating kinetic interactions of SRPK1 with molecular chaperones. Genes & Development 23:482–495.
- 166. Graveley BR. 2000. Sorting out the complexity of SR protein functions. RNA 6:1197– 1211.

- 167. McCarthy AM, McMahan L, Schaffer PA. 1989. Herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP27 deletion mutants exhibit altered patterns of transcription and are DNA deficient. J Virol 63:18–27.
- 168. McGregor F, Phelan A, Dunlop J, Clements JB. 1996. Regulation of herpes simplex virus poly (A) site usage and the action of immediate-early protein IE63 in the early-late switch. J Virol 70:1931–1940.
- 169. Olesky M, McNamee EE, Zhou C, Taylor TJ, Knipe DM. 2005. Evidence for a direct interaction between HSV-1 ICP27 and ICP8 proteins. Virology 331:94–105.
- 170. Dai-Ju JQ, Li L, Johnson LA, Sandri-Goldin RM. 2006. ICP27 interacts with the Cterminal domain of RNA polymerase II and facilitates its recruitment to herpes simplex virus 1 transcription sites, where it undergoes proteasomal degradation during infection. J Virol 80:3567–3581.
- 171. Johnson LA, Sandri-Goldin RM. 2009. Efficient nuclear export of herpes simplex virus 1 transcripts requires both RNA binding by ICP27 and ICP27 interaction with TAP/NXF1. J Virol 83:1184–1192.
- 172. Johnson LA, Li L, Sandri-Goldin RM. 2009. The cellular RNA export receptor TAP/NXF1 is required for ICP27-mediated export of herpes simplex virus 1 RNA, but the TREX complex adaptor protein Aly/REF appears to be dispensable. J Virol 83:6335– 6346.

- 173. Sears AE, Halliburton IW, Meignier B, Silver S, Roizman B. 1985. Herpes simplex virus
 1 mutant deleted in the alpha 22 gene: growth and gene expression in permissive and restrictive cells and establishment of latency in mice. J Virol 55:338–346.
- 174. Long MC, Leong V, Schaffer PA, Spencer CA, Rice SA. 1999. ICP22 and the UL13 protein kinase are both required for herpes simplex virus-induced modification of the large subunit of RNA polymerase II. J Virol 73:5593–5604.
- 175. Purves FC, Ogle WO, Roizman B. 1993. Processing of the herpes simplex virus regulatory protein alpha 22 mediated by the UL13 protein kinase determines the accumulation of a subset of alpha and gamma mRNAs and proteins in infected cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 90:6701–6705.
- 176. Stelz G, Rücker E, Rosorius O, Meyer G, Stauber RH, Spatz M, Eibl MM, Hauber J. 2002. Identification of two nuclear import signals in the alpha-gene product ICP22 of herpes simplex virus 1. Virology 295:360–370.
- 177. Purves FC, Roizman B. 1992. The UL13 gene of herpes simplex virus 1 encodes the functions for posttranslational processing associated with phosphorylation of the regulatory protein alpha 22. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 89:7310–7314.
- 178. Asai R, Ohno T, Kato A, Kawaguchi Y. 2007. Identification of proteins directly phosphorylated by UL13 protein kinase from herpes simplex virus 1. Microbes Infect 9:1434–1438.

- 179. Mitchell C, Blaho JA, McCormick AL, Roizman B. 1997. The Nucleotidylylation of Herpes Simplex Virus 1 Regulatory Protein α22 by Human Casein Kinase II. Journal of Biological Chemistry 272:25394–25400.
- Kolb AW, Schmidt TR, Dyer DW, Brandt CR. 2011. Sequence variation in the herpes simplex virus U(S)1 ocular virulence determinant. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 52:4630– 4638.
- 181. Dembowski JA, DeLuca NA. 2015. Selective Recruitment of Nuclear Factors to Productively Replicating Herpes Simplex Virus Genomes. PLoS Pathog 11:e1004939.
- Rice SA, Davido DJ. 2013. HSV-1 ICP22: hijacking host nuclear functions to enhance viral infection. Future Microbiol 8:311–321.
- Post LE, Roizman B. 1981. A generalized technique for deletion of specific genes in large genomes: alpha gene 22 of herpes simplex virus 1 is not essential for growth. Cell 25:227–232.
- 184. Poffenberger KL, Idowu AD, Fraser-Smith EB, Raichlen PE, Herman RC. 1994. A herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP22 deletion mutant is altered for virulence and latency in vivo. Arch Virol 139:111–119.
- 185. Rice SA, Long MC, Lam V, Schaffer PA, Spencer CA. 1995. Herpes simplex virus immediate-early protein ICP22 is required for viral modification of host RNA polymerase II and establishment of the normal viral transcription program. J Virol 69:5550–5559.

- 186. Orlando JS, Balliet JW, Kushnir AS, Astor TL, Kosz-Vnenchak M, Rice SA, Knipe DM, Schaffer PA. 2006. ICP22 Is Required for Wild-Type Composition and Infectivity of Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Virions. J Virol 80:9381–9390.
- 187. Abrisch RG, Eidem TM, Yakovchuk P, Kugel JF, Goodrich JA. 2016. Infection by Herpes Simplex Virus 1 Causes Near-Complete Loss of RNA Polymerase II Occupancy on the Host Cell Genome. Journal of Virology 90:2503–2513.
- 188. Birkenheuer CH, Danko CG, Baines JD. 2018. Herpes Simplex Virus 1 Dramatically Alters Loading and Positioning of RNA Polymerase II on Host Genes Early in Infection. Journal of Virology 92:e02184-17.
- 189. Liu P, Greenleaf AL, Stiller JW. 2008. The essential sequence elements required for RNAP II carboxyl-terminal domain function in yeast and their evolutionary conservation. Mol Biol Evol 25:719–727.
- Heidemann M, Hintermair C, Voß K, Eick D. 2013. Dynamic phosphorylation patterns of RNA polymerase II CTD during transcription. Biochim Biophys Acta 1829:55–62.
- 191. Guidi BW, Bjornsdottir G, Hopkins DC, Lacomis L, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Myers LC. 2004. Mutual targeting of mediator and the TFIIH kinase Kin28. J Biol Chem 279:29114–29120.
- 192. Cho EJ, Takagi T, Moore CR, Buratowski S. 1997. mRNA capping enzyme is recruited to the transcription complex by phosphorylation of the RNA polymerase II carboxy-terminal domain. Genes Dev 11:3319–3326.

- 193. Jonkers I, Lis JT. 2015. Getting up to speed with transcription elongation by RNA polymerase II. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 16:167–177.
- Peterlin BM, Price DH. 2006. Controlling the elongation phase of transcription with P-TEFb. Mol Cell 23:297–305.
- 195. Rice SA, Long MC, Lam V, Spencer CA. 1994. RNA polymerase II is aberrantly phosphorylated and localized to viral replication compartments following herpes simplex virus infection. J Virol 68:988–1001.
- 196. Ou M, Sandri-Goldin RM. 2013. Inhibition of cdk9 during herpes simplex virus 1 infection impedes viral transcription. PLoS ONE 8:e79007.
- 197. Durand LO, Roizman B. 2008. Role of cdk9 in the optimization of expression of the genes regulated by ICP22 of herpes simplex virus 1. J Virol 82:10591–10599.
- 198. Zaborowska J, Baumli S, Laitem C, O'Reilly D, Thomas PH, O'Hare P, Murphy S. 2014. Herpes Simplex Virus 1 (HSV-1) ICP22 protein directly interacts with cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK)9 to inhibit RNA polymerase II transcription elongation. PLoS ONE 9:e107654.
- 199. Guo L, Wu W, Liu L, Wang L, Zhang Y, Wu L, Guan Y, Li Q. 2012. Herpes simplex virus 1 ICP22 inhibits the transcription of viral gene promoters by binding to and blocking the recruitment of P-TEFb. PLoS ONE 7:e45749.
- 200. LeRoy G, Orphanides G, Lane WS, Reinberg D. 1998. Requirement of RSF and FACT for transcription of chromatin templates in vitro. Science 282:1900–1904.

- 201. Orphanides G, Wu W-H, Lane WS, Hampsey M, Reinberg D. 1999. The chromatinspecific transcription elongation factor FACT comprises human SPT16 and SSRP1 proteins. Nature 400:284–288.
- 202. Saunders A, Werner J, Andrulis ED, Nakayama T, Hirose S, Reinberg D, Lis JT. 2003. Tracking FACT and the RNA Polymerase II Elongation Complex Through Chromatin in Vivo. Science 301:1094–1096.
- 203. Birch JL, Tan BC-M, Panov KI, Panova TB, Andersen JS, Owen-Hughes TA, Russell J, Lee S-C, Zomerdijk JCBM. 2009. FACT facilitates chromatin transcription by RNA polymerases I and III. The EMBO Journal 28:854–865.
- Belotserkovskaya R, Oh S, Bondarenko VA, Orphanides G, Studitsky VM, Reinberg D.
 2003. FACT Facilitates Transcription-Dependent Nucleosome Alteration. Science 301:1090–1093.
- 205. Hsieh F-K, Kulaeva OI, Patel SS, Dyer PN, Luger K, Reinberg D, Studitsky VM. 2013. Histone chaperone FACT action during transcription through chromatin by RNA polymerase II. PNAS 110:7654–7659.
- 206. Xin H, Takahata S, Blanksma M, McCullough L, Stillman DJ, Formosa T. 2009. yFACT Induces Global Accessibility of Nucleosomal DNA without H2A-H2B Displacement. Molecular Cell 35:365–376.
- 207. Schwabish MA, Struhl K. 2004. Evidence for Eviction and Rapid Deposition of Histones upon Transcriptional Elongation by RNA Polymerase II. Mol Cell Biol 24:10111–10117.

- 208. Jamai A, Puglisi A, Strubin M. 2009. Histone Chaperone Spt16 Promotes Redeposition of the Original H3-H4 Histones Evicted by Elongating RNA Polymerase. Molecular Cell 35:377–383.
- 209. Heo K, Kim H, Choi SH, Choi J, Kim K, Gu J, Lieber MR, Yang AS, An W. 2008. FACT-Mediated Exchange of Histone Variant H2AX Regulated by Phosphorylation of H2AX and ADP-Ribosylation of Spt16. Molecular Cell 30:86–97.
- 210. Wittmeyer J, Formosa T. 1997. The Saccharomyces cerevisiae DNA polymerase alpha catalytic subunit interacts with Cdc68/Spt16 and with Pob3, a protein similar to an HMG1-like protein. Mol Cell Biol 17:4178–4190.
- 211. Belotserkovskaya R, Saunders A, Lis JT, Reinberg D. 2004. Transcription through chromatin: understanding a complex FACT. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Gene Structure and Expression 1677:87–99.
- 212. Tan BC-M, Chien C-T, Hirose S, Lee S-C. 2006. Functional cooperation between FACT and MCM helicase facilitates initiation of chromatin DNA replication. The EMBO Journal 25:3975–3985.
- 213. Kumari A, Mazina OM, Shinde U, Mazin AV, Lu H. 2009. A role for SSRP1 in recombination-mediated DNA damage response. J Cell Biochem 108:508–518.
- 214. Dinant C, Ampatziadis-Michailidis G, Lans H, Tresini M, Lagarou A, Grosbart M, Theil AF, van Cappellen WA, Kimura H, Bartek J, Fousteri M, Houtsmuller AB, Vermeulen W, Marteijn JA. 2013. Enhanced Chromatin Dynamics by FACT Promotes Transcriptional Restart after UV-Induced DNA Damage. Molecular Cell 51:469–479.

- 215. Keller DM, Zeng X, Wang Y, Zhang QH, Kapoor M, Shu H, Goodman R, Lozano G, Zhao Y, Lu H. 2001. A DNA Damage–Induced p53 Serine 392 Kinase Complex Contains CK2, hSpt16, and SSRP1. Molecular Cell 7:283–292.
- 216. VanDemark AP, Blanksma M, Ferris E, Heroux A, Hill CP, Formosa T. 2006. The Structure of the yFACT Pob3-M Domain, Its Interaction with the DNA Replication Factor RPA, and a Potential Role in Nucleosome Deposition. Molecular Cell 22:363–374.
- 217. Hu J, Liu E, Renne R. 2009. Involvement of SSRP1 in Latent Replication of Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus. J Virol 83:11051–11063.
- 218. O'Connor CM, Nukui M, Gurova KV, Murphy EA. 2016. Inhibition of the FACT Complex Reduces Transcription from the Human Cytomegalovirus Major Immediate Early Promoter in Models of Lytic and Latent Replication. J Virol 90:4249–4253.
- Alwine JC, Steinhart WL, Hill CW. 1974. Transcription of herpes simplex type 1 DNA in nuclei isolated from infected HEp-2 and KB cells. Virology 60:302–307.
- 220. Honess RW, Roizman B. 1975. Regulation of herpesvirus macromolecular synthesis: sequential transition of polypeptide synthesis requires functional viral polypeptides. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 72:1276–1280.
- 221. Dixon RA, Schaffer PA. 1980. Fine-structure mapping and functional analysis of temperature-sensitive mutants in the gene encoding the herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate early protein VP175. J Virol 36:189–203.

- 222. DeLuca NA, Schaffer PA. 1985. Activation of immediate-early, early, and late promoters by temperature-sensitive and wild-type forms of herpes simplex virus type 1 protein ICP4. Mol Cell Biol 5:1997–2008.
- 223. Boutell C, Sadis S, Everett RD. 2002. Herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early protein ICP0 and is isolated RING finger domain act as ubiquitin E3 ligases in vitro. J Virol 76:841–850.
- 224. Maul GG, Everett RD. 1994. The nuclear location of PML, a cellular member of the C3HC4 zinc-binding domain protein family, is rearranged during herpes simplex virus infection by the C3HC4 viral protein ICP0. J Gen Virol 75 (Pt 6):1223–1233.
- 225. Gu H, Liang Y, Mandel G, Roizman B. 2005. Components of the REST/CoREST/histone deacetylase repressor complex are disrupted, modified, and translocated in HSV-1infected cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:7571–7576.
- 226. Lin R, Noyce RS, Collins SE, Everett RD, Mossman KL. 2004. The herpes simplex virus ICP0 RING finger domain inhibits IRF3- and IRF7-mediated activation of interferon-stimulated genes. J Virol 78:1675–1684.
- 227. Sandri-Goldin RM. 1998. ICP27 mediates HSV RNA export by shuttling through a leucine-rich nuclear export signal and binding viral intronless RNAs through an RGG motif. Genes Dev 12:868–879.
- 228. Zhou C, Knipe DM. 2002. Association of herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP8 and ICP27 proteins with cellular RNA polymerase II holoenzyme. J Virol 76:5893–5904.

- 229. Wilcox KW, Kohn A, Sklyanskaya E, Roizman B. 1980. Herpes simplex virus phosphoproteins. I. Phosphate cycles on and off some viral polypeptides and can alter their affinity for DNA. J Virol 33:167–182.
- 230. Sims RJ, Belotserkovskaya R, Reinberg D. 2004. Elongation by RNA polymerase II: the short and long of it. Genes Dev 18:2437–2468.
- 231. Fraser KA, Rice SA. 2005. Herpes simplex virus type 1 infection leads to loss of serine-2 phosphorylation on the carboxyl-terminal domain of RNA polymerase II. J Virol 79:11323–11334.
- 232. Fraser KA, Rice SA. 2007. Herpes Simplex Virus Immediate-Early Protein ICP22 Triggers Loss of Serine 2-Phosphorylated RNA Polymerase II. J Virol 81:5091–5101.
- 233. Bastian TW, Livingston CM, Weller SK, Rice SA. 2010. Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Immediate-Early Protein ICP22 Is Required for VICE Domain Formation during Productive Viral Infection. J Virol 84:2384–2394.
- 234. Su Hui Teo C, Serwa RA, O'Hare P. 2016. Spatial and Temporal Resolution of Global Protein Synthesis during HSV Infection Using Bioorthogonal Precursors and Click Chemistry. PLoS Pathog 12:e1005927.
- 235. Orlando JS, Astor TL, Rundle SA, Schaffer PA. 2006. The products of the herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early US1/US1.5 genes downregulate levels of S-phase-specific cyclins and facilitate virus replication in S-phase Vero cells. J Virol 80:4005–4016.

- Baugh LR, Demodena J, Sternberg PW. 2009. RNA Pol II accumulates at promoters of growth genes during developmental arrest. Science 324:92–94.
- 237. Mason PB, Struhl K. 2003. The FACT Complex Travels with Elongating RNA Polymerase II and Is Important for the Fidelity of Transcriptional Initiation In Vivo. Mol Cell Biol 23:8323–8333.
- 238. Reinberg D, Sims RJ. 2006. de FACTo Nucleosome Dynamics. J Biol Chem 281:23297– 23301.
- Formosa T. 2012. The role of FACT in making and breaking nucleosomes. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Gene Regulatory Mechanisms 1819:247–255.
- 240. Placek BJ, Berger SL. 2010. Chromatin dynamics during herpes simplex virus-1 lytic infection. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Gene Regulatory Mechanisms 1799:223–227.
- 241. Michele S. Swanson, Fred Winston. 1992. Spt4, Spt5 and Spt6 Interactions: Effects on Transcription and Viability in Saccharomyces Cerevisiae. Genetics 132:325–336.
- 242. Endoh M, Zhu W, Hasegawa J, Watanabe H, Kim D-K, Aida M, Inukai N, Narita T, Yamada T, Furuya A, Sato H, Yamaguchi Y, Mandal SS, Reinberg D, Wada T, Handa H. 2004. Human Spt6 stimulates transcription elongation by RNA polymerase II in vitro. Mol Cell Biol 24:3324–3336.

- 243. Krogan NJ, Kim M, Ahn SH, Zhong G, Kobor MS, Cagney G, Emili A, Shilatifard A, Buratowski S, Greenblatt JF. 2002. RNA Polymerase II Elongation Factors of Saccharomyces cerevisiae: a Targeted Proteomics Approach. Mol Cell Biol 22:6979– 6992.
- 244. Wada T, Orphanides G, Hasegawa J, Kim DK, Shima D, Yamaguchi Y, Fukuda A, Hisatake K, Oh S, Reinberg D, Handa H. 2000. FACT relieves DSIF/NELF-mediated inhibition of transcriptional elongation and reveals functional differences between P-TEFb and TFIIH. Mol Cell 5:1067–1072.
- 245. Egloff S, Dienstbier M, Murphy S. 2012. Updating the RNA polymerase CTD code: adding gene-specific layers. Trends Genet 28:333–341.
- 246. Diebold M-L, Loeliger E, Koch M, Winston F, Cavarelli J, Romier C. 2010. Noncanonical tandem SH2 enables interaction of elongation factor Spt6 with RNA polymerase II. J Biol Chem 285:38389–38398.
- 247. Sun M, Larivière L, Dengl S, Mayer A, Cramer P. 2010. A tandem SH2 domain in transcription elongation factor Spt6 binds the phosphorylated RNA polymerase II C-terminal repeat domain (CTD). J Biol Chem 285:41597–41603.
- 248. Spencer CA, Dahmus ME, Rice SA. 1997. Repression of host RNA polymerase II transcription by herpes simplex virus type 1. J Virol 71:2031–2040.
- 249. Durand LO, Advani SJ, Poon APW, Roizman B. 2005. The carboxyl-terminal domain of RNA polymerase II is phosphorylated by a complex containing cdk9 and infected-cell protein 22 of herpes simplex virus 1. J Virol 79:6757–6762.

- Gierasch WW, Zimmerman DL, Ward SL, Vanheyningen TK, Romine JD, Leib DA.
 2006. Construction and characterization of bacterial artificial chromosomes containing HSV-1 strains 17 and KOS. J Virol Methods 135:197–206.
- 251. Tischer BK, von Einem J, Kaufer B, Osterrieder N. 2006. Two-step red-mediated recombination for versatile high-efficiency markerless DNA manipulation in Escherichia coli. BioTechniques 40:191–197.
- 252. Tischer BK, Smith GA, Osterrieder N. 2010. En passant mutagenesis: a two step markerless red recombination system. Methods Mol Biol 634:421–430.
- 253. Wu N, Watkins SC, Schaffer PA, DeLuca NA. 1996. Prolonged gene expression and cell survival after infection by a herpes simplex virus mutant defective in the immediate-early genes encoding ICP4, ICP27, and ICP22. J Virol 70:6358–6369.
- 254. Maruzuru Y, Ichinohe T, Sato R, Miyake K, Okano T, Suzuki T, Koshiba T, Koyanagi N, Tsuda S, Watanabe M, Arii J, Kato A, Kawaguchi Y. 2018. Herpes Simplex Virus 1 VP22
 Inhibits AIM2-Dependent Inflammasome Activation to Enable Efficient Viral Replication.
 Cell Host & Microbe 23:254-265.e7.
- 255. Campbell MEM, Palfreyman JW, Preston CM. 1984. Identification of herpes simplex virus DNA sequences which encode a trans-acting polypeptide responsible for stimulation of immediate early transcription. Journal of Molecular Biology 180:1–19.
- 256. Schek N, Bachenheimer SL. 1985. Degradation of cellular mRNAs induced by a virionassociated factor during herpes simplex virus infection of Vero cells. J Virol 55:601–610.

- 257. Rutkowski AJ, Erhard F, L'Hernault A, Bonfert T, Schilhabel M, Crump C, Rosenstiel P, Efstathiou S, Zimmer R, Friedel CC, Dölken L. 2015. Widespread disruption of host transcription termination in HSV-1 infection. Nat Commun 6:7126.
- 258. Fox HL, Dembowski JA, DeLuca NA. 2017. A Herpesviral Immediate Early Protein Promotes Transcription Elongation of Viral Transcripts. mBio 8.
- 259. Heidemann M, Hintermair C, Voß K, Eick D. 2013. Dynamic phosphorylation patterns of RNA polymerase II CTD during transcription. Biochim Biophys Acta 1829:55–62.
- 260. Hennig T, Michalski M, Rutkowski AJ, Djakovic L, Whisnant AW, Friedl M-S, Jha BA, Baptista MAP, L'Hernault A, Erhard F, Dölken L, Friedel CC. 2018. HSV-1-induced disruption of transcription termination resembles a cellular stress response but selectively increases chromatin accessibility downstream of genes. PLOS Pathogens 14:e1006954.
- 261. Keller DM, Lu H. 2002. p53 serine 392 phosphorylation increases after UV through induction of the assembly of the CK2.hSPT16.SSRP1 complex. J Biol Chem 277:50206– 50213.
- 262. Nguyen THD, Galej WP, Bai X, Savva CG, Newman AJ, Scheres SHW, Nagai K. 2015.The architecture of the spliceosomal U4/U6.U5 tri-snRNP. Nature 523:47–52.
- 263. Elias P, O'Donnell ME, Mocarski ES, Lehman IR. 1986. A DNA binding protein specific for an origin of replication of herpes simplex virus type 1. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 83:6322–6326.

- 264. Isler JA, Schaffer PA. 2001. Phosphorylation of the Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Origin Binding Protein. Journal of Virology 75:628–637.
- 265. Schildgen O, Graper S, Blumel J, Matz B. 2005. Genome Replication and Progeny Virion Production of Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Mutants with Temperature-Sensitive Lesions in the Origin-Binding Protein. Journal of Virology 79:7273–7278.
- Reines D, Conaway JW, Conaway RC. 1996. The RNA polymerase II general elongation factors. Trends Biochem Sci 21:351–355.
- 267. Kim YK, Bourgeois CF, Isel C, Churcher MJ, Karn J. 2002. Phosphorylation of the RNA Polymerase II Carboxyl-Terminal Domain by CDK9 Is Directly Responsible for Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Tat-Activated Transcriptional Elongation. Molecular and Cellular Biology 22:4622–4637.
- 268. Zhou M, Halanski MA, Radonovich MF, Kashanchi F, Peng J, Price DH, Brady JN. 2000. Tat Modifies the Activity of CDK9 To Phosphorylate Serine 5 of the RNA Polymerase II Carboxyl-Terminal Domain during Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Transcription. Molecular and Cellular Biology 20:5077–5086.
- 269. Boehmer PE, Lehman IR. 1993. Physical interaction between the herpes simplex virus 1 origin-binding protein and single-stranded DNA-binding protein ICP8. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 90:8444–8448.
- 270. Boehmer PE, Craigie MC, Stow ND, Lehman IR. 1994. Association of origin binding protein and single strand DNA-binding protein, ICP8, during herpes simplex virus type 1 DNA replication in vivo. J Biol Chem 269:29329–29334.

- 271. Olsson M, Tang K-W, Persson C, Wilhelmsson LM, Billeter M, Elias P. 2009. Stepwise Evolution of the Herpes Simplex Virus Origin Binding Protein and Origin of Replication. Journal of Biological Chemistry 284:16246–16255.
- 272. Macao B, Olsson M, Elias P. 2004. Functional Properties of the Herpes Simplex Virus Type I Origin-binding Protein Are Controlled by Precise Interactions with the Activated Form of the Origin of DNA Replication. Journal of Biological Chemistry 279:29211– 29217.